
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Harry Blake-Herbert 
Governance and Scrutiny Team 

Direct: 020 8132 0807 
e-mail: Harry.Blake-Herbert@enfield.gov.uk 

 
 

ENVIRONMENT & CLIMATE ACTION 
SCRUTINY PANEL 

 

Tuesday, 12th March, 2024 at 7.00 pm in the Conference Room, 
Civic Centre, Silver Street, Enfield, EN1 3XA 

 
Membership: 
 
Cllrs: Hivran Dalkaya (Chair), Nia Stevens (Vice Chair), Maria Alexandrou, Patricia 
Gregory, Ahmet Hasan, Mohammad Islam, Destiny Karakus, and Joanne Laban.  
 

AGENDA – PART 1 
 
1. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES  
 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary, other pecuniary or 

non-pecuniary interests relating to items on the agenda.  
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 6) 
 
 To receive and agree the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 8 

February 2024.  
 

4. BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN (Pages 7 - 50) 
 
 To receive an update on how Biodiversity Net Gain will be processed by 

Development Management in Enfield.  
 

5. QUIETER NEIGHBOURHOODS - WALKING & CYCLING 
INFRASTRUCTURE (Pages 51 - 56) 

 
 To receive an update on information on consultations that have taken place 

for Quieter Neighbourhoods and walking & cycling infrastructure. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

6. AIR QUALITY/POLLUTION & ULEZ (Pages 57 - 64) 
 
 To receive an update on the impact of the expansion of the Ultra-Low 

Emission Zone, and its impact on air quality/pollution.  
 

7. WORK PROGRAMME 2023/24 (Pages 65 - 68) 
 
 To note the Environment & Climate Action Work Programme for 2023/24.  

 
8. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
 To note the dates of the future meetings as follows:  

 
Thursday 18 April 2024.  
 
 

 
 



ENVIRONMENT & CLIMATE ACTION SCRUTINY PANEL - 8.2.2024 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE ENVIRONMENT & 
CLIMATE ACTION SCRUTINY PANEL HELD ON 
THURSDAY, 8TH FEBRUARY, 2024 

 
 

MEMBERS: Councillors: Hivran Dalkaya (Chair), Nia Stevens (Vice Chair), Patricia 
Gregory, Ahmet Hasan, Mohammad Islam, Joanne Laban, and Michael Rye OBE. 
 
Officers: Marcus Harvey (Head of Parks and Open Spaces), Ian Russell (Principal 
Engineer), Cheryl Headon (Director of Leisure, Parks & Culture), Doug Wilkinson 
(Director of Environment & Street Scene), and Harry Blake-Herbert (Governance 
Officer).  
 
 
Also Attending: Cllr Rick Jewell (Cabinet Member for the Environment), members of 
the public, and an officer observing.  
 

 
1. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES  

 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. Apologies for absence were 
received from Enfield Youth Parliament Representatives, Cllr Destiny 
Karakus, and Cllr Maria Alexandrou, who was substituted by Cllr Michael Rye 
OBE.  
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest received regarding any item on the 
agenda.  
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
AGREED the minutes of the previous Environment & Climate Action Scrutiny 
Panel meeting held on Tuesday 24 October 2023.  
 
An update on actions from the previous meeting was received.  
 

4. REWILDING  
 
Items 4 and 5, rewilding and cattle grazing respectively, would be reported on/ 
considered together.  
 
Ian Russell and Cheryl Headon introduced and highlighted the key aspects of 
the report, including but not limited to: beaver reintroduction, cattle grazing at 
Forty Hall, wetlands, landscape recovery projects, woodlands, footpaths/ 
cycleways, work with farmers, Enfield Chase landscape and biodiversity.   
 
In response to Members enquiries regarding tree planting and maintenance, 
officers advised that a percentage of loss was always going to take place, and 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



ENVIRONMENT & CLIMATE ACTION SCRUTINY PANEL - 8.2.2024 

trees were particularly vulnerable in their first few years, but if they survived 
this, they would be more resilient in the future. They said that whilst watering 
during periods of significant heat was unrealistic; new full-time operational 
positions and grants/ external funding had been secured which provided 
options that would allow for better control and maintenance. It was expressed 
that officers were speaking to/ working with external experts and had taken 
away lessons from last year. Officers advised that planting during the right 
conditions, and putting down mulch/ tree bark could improve survival rates/ 
chances. Officers felt that some of the external auditing/ performance reviews 
had not been entirely accurate, and pointed out that the benefit realisation for 
such projects was not immediate.  
 
In response to Members questions relating to revenue/ budgetary pressures, 
officers advised that feasibility studies had been conducted and a variety of 
funding streams were available to them. They advised that they had just gone 
through a feasibility study with Natural England for Countryside Stewardship, 
which generated funding for land management practices with around £40,000 
per annum achieved. Officers expressed there had been an increase from 5 
to 18 parks which would generate a breadth of income, and aftercare periods 
had been included to ensure maintenance was budgeted for. They added that 
business cases were being carefully crafted and scrutinised to make sure the 
funding for such projects were fully considered and built in.  
 
In response to Members queries regarding wetland maintenance, officers 
advised that it could take some time for wetlands to establish, and that they 
try to engage with local residents on the work that they are doing. A ditch at 
Cheyne Walk was said to be overgrown and have a blocked drainpipe, which 
officers were trying to clear to prevent flooding on the path; some of the issue 
had been resolved but work was still ongoing. Officers were said to have been 
on site the day after the last large downpour, and a communication piece 
could be picked up with residents around the work being done. Officers 
agreed to visit Little Bury Road and come back to with a plan of action 
regarding the fencing. It was described how the service restructure would 
ensure there were enough staff and a change in method would see teams 
responsible for the maintenance of such projects.  
 
In response to Members enquiries relating to beavers, officer advised that 
they had worked with the Beavers Trust and incorporated their expertise into 
the project; the beaver enclosure was said to be large and deemed a suitable/ 
appropriate size. An agreement was said to have been reached with Council 
planning enforcement services and a tree officer, to replant trees which had 
been accidently feld in the construction of the enclosure, and said trees had 
now been planted. Officers explained that there was an agreement with Capel 
Manor, who were responsible for managing the welfare of the animals and 
bore some of the cost, in return for using the project as a marketing tool. It 
was described that income could be generated through guided tours of the 
site, and the Council were looking at working with the college on this to help 
cover some of their costs. Money generated through other projects such as 
landscape recovery were also said to help partially cover the long-term costs 
of the scheme. Officers agreed to come back to Members with the true 

Page 2



ENVIRONMENT & CLIMATE ACTION SCRUTINY PANEL - 8.2.2024 

revenue cost of the project. Officers said that there were no plans to introduce 
more beavers at that site which had a 5-year licence running until 2027 for up 
to 8 beavers. If 8 was exceeded, work would be done with the Beaver Trust to 
relocate surplus beavers; and they could look at swapping some beavers for 
genetic diversity.  
 
In response to Members questions regarding woodland costs, officers advised 
that a revenue/income was received from the Forestry Commission per 
hectare per year for the first 10 years, and that after this point the woodlands 
would require less management. It was said that income generation as part of 
the landscape recovery project would help contribute to their maintenance. 
Officers described one of the pieces of work for the new Head of Rural 
Transformation, a post which the Environment Agency had agreed funding for 
to 2025, was a road map/ robust plan detailing financial models and sources 
of funding for potential projects. The timeframe for this piece of work was said 
to be a year, with the importance of projects being self-sustaining, through 
means such as recreation and tourism highlighted, and officers’ aspiration for 
a mosaic of land uses and habitats was described.  
 
In response to Members queries relating to conservation grazing, officers 
advised that the project at Forty Hall was a licensed partnership with Capel 
Manor College, which the college managed for landscape benefits; but the 
Council would be exploring commercial opportunities for grazing in rural 
areas. A risk analysis was said to have been undertaken, with entering into a 
contractual arrangement and using the college’s expertise to manage the 
cattle, proving the safer/ better option. Officers said that they were currently in 
the process of taking the learning from the Forty Hall project and assessing 
the performance against the costs and expectations, and this would guide the 
future steps for such/similar projects, such as at Trent Park.   
 
In response to Members enquiries regarding land management, officers 
advised that there was a variety of schemes e.g., food production, and 
funding streams available to them, and they were in the process of 
understanding what the best long-term approach was at different locations. 
They expressed that some of the funding available came with certain criteria 
and commitments which needed to be fully understood and weighed up 
against alternatives, for instance conducting feasibility studies and baselining 
the quality of soil.  
 
A member of the public asked about tree planting, watering, and 
maintenance; the potential for introducing herds of cattle; and increasing food 
production. Officers advised that they would follow up on these points.  
 

5. CATTLE GRAZING  
 
This item was considered alongside item 4.  
 
 
 
 

Page 3



ENVIRONMENT & CLIMATE ACTION SCRUTINY PANEL - 8.2.2024 

6. PARK MANAGEMENT & BIODIVERSITY  
 
Marcus Harvey and Cheryl Headon introduced and highlighted the key 
aspects of the report; including but not limited to: public toilet facilities, café 
leases/marketing, parks, grass cutting and verge maintenance, tennis 
improvements, the service restructure and a change in method, Countryside 
Stewardship, introduction of digital technologies, and transparency.  
 
In response to Members questions relating to grass cutting, officers advised 
that during the rain they would not cut the grass, due to the weight of the 
machinery and the additional mess created from cuttings, but that where this 
was the case, officers would be redeployed to maintain green spaces in other 
ways. Officers added that the Countryside Act limited what shrubbery they 
could cut during nesting season, but that if there were health and safety 
concerns or public enquiries, officers would investigate the site and could take 
a decision, if necessary, to cut it back. They explained that their learning had 
allowed for problem areas to be identified and highlighted as priorities which 
were being targeted prior to the nesting season. Being displaced from Trent 
Park last year provided a challenge in accessing the Western corridor, and 
now that they were back at the depot, the team were in a better position. 
Members highlighted that the green at Old Forge Road was never cut as it 
was not included in the Council’s original list; officers agreed to ensure this 
was programmed into the new system.  
 
In response to Members queries regarding public toilets, officers advised that 
closing the toilets an hour before parks closed may be counterproductive and 
it would be looked at with corporate health and safety colleagues, but there 
were lone worker issues given the risk at later hours with anti-social 
behaviour. They added that refurbishments had been undertaken at 3 
locations; colleagues had been at Oakwood Park the day before the meeting 
regarding the broken window, and Bury Lodge Gardens toilets had been 
escalated to the Property Director/ Facilities Management team. Toilets were 
said to be closed when it was beyond the finances available to fix them, and 
or had continued/repetitious anti-social behaviour problems. Officers would 
come back to Members with the East-West split of public toilet facilities in the 
borough.  
 
In response to Members enquiries relating to digital technologies, officers 
advised that this technology would allow for service performance to be fed 
into the website, and allow them to scrutinise it which would help to make the 
service more efficient. Officers expressed that they would be starting 
workshops with the supplier shortly, and that once this had started, they would 
welcome councillors’ involvement in understanding the technology. They 
added that technology had been acquired which would help track usage and 
visits to open spaces across the borough. This insight would allow for 
conversations with public health colleagues which could feed into workshops 
and class programmes to target the social and physical wellbeing of young 
people in the borough, in a similar to schemes like Active Through Football.  
 

Page 4



ENVIRONMENT & CLIMATE ACTION SCRUTINY PANEL - 8.2.2024 

In response to Members questions regarding tennis facilities, officers advised 
that they had put signage at the courts for 3 weeks in the run up to the courts 
being closed and the booking system being introduced, which provided 
instructions on how to use the app, and further drop-in sessions were offered. 
They added that the booking system was a condition of the LTA funding, as a 
means to get the courts in better condition, and they had received little 
negative feedback with regards to this. Coaching was said to be available to 
all residents, with parks targeted based on the outcome of active wellbeing 
and health data of young people in particular, to encourage them to get 
involved. Marketing for tennis improvements would go out via schools and 
social media.  
 
In response to Members queries relating to parks, officers advised that the 
grass at Aldersbrook Park would be cut; the nettles coming through the fence 
line, the artificial grass giving off electric shocks, and the frequency of grass 
cutting in dog area were highlighted, and officers would look into fencing 
around the slide. Decision makers were said to be in each depot now, so work 
programmes should be tighter. Officers would look into maintenance issues at 
Bury Lodge Gardens, which was said to be being serviced by a mobile team 
of 2-3 people, in the absence of the park keeper.  
 
In response to Members enquiries regarding cafes, officers advised that they 
were about to go to market with cafes at Enfield Town Playing Fields, Central 
Pavilion, Pymmes Park, and Jubilee Park, some which could also provide 
public toilet facilities. They added that there was a new Property Director and 
that he and Cheryl Headon were in discussion as to how the approach to 
maintenance issues at buildings in parks could be addressed/improved.  
 

7. WORK PROGRAMME 2023/24  
 
Members noted the Environment & Climate Action Scrutiny Panel Work 
Programme for 2023/24.  
 

8. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
Members noted the dates of future meetings as set out in the agenda.  
 
The Chair thanked Members and officers for their time and contributions, and 
the meeting ended at 21:07.  
 
 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

London Borough of Enfield 
 
 

 
 

Report Title Biodiversity Net Gain   
 

Report to Environment and Climate Action Scrutiny Panel 
 

Date of Meeting 12th March 2024 
 

Cabinet Member Councillor Susan Erbil, Cabinet Member for Licensing, 
Planning and Regulatory Services 
 

Executive Director 
/ Director 

Brett Leahy, Director of Planning and Growth 
Housing, Regeneration and Development 
 

Report Author Karen Page  
Karen.page@enfield.gov.uk  
 
Gideon Whittingham 
Gideon.whittingham@enfield.gov.uk  

Classification Part 1 Public  
 

 
Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 For information.  
 
Main Considerations for the Panel 
 
2.1 To consider how Biodiversity Net Gain will be processed by Development 

Management in Enfield. 
 
Background  
 
3.1 Given the continuing decline in Biodiversity in the UK and globally, it is no 

longer enough to identify protected species and aim to conserve 
designated sites through the development process. 

 

Page 7 Agenda Item 4

mailto:Karen.page@enfield.gov.uk
mailto:Gideon.whittingham@enfield.gov.uk


 

 

3.2 In seeking to drive Nature Recovery, the Government has introduced 
several measures including the mandating of measurable Biodiversity Net 
Gain in new development via the Environment Act 2021 (the Act). The Act, 
mandatory from 12 February 2024, includes a requirement for all future 
schemes including the development of land to deliver a mandatory 
minimum 10% Biodiversity Net Gain. This will include a requirement for 
the net gain to be maintained for at least 30 years. 

 
3.3 The objective is that biodiversity will be in a measurably better state after 

new development has happened than before the development has taken 
place. So, if a developer wants to build some new homes on a parcel of 
land, the developer will have to calculate what level of biodiversity exists 
before development takes place, and then demonstrate how habitats will 
be created to increase biodiversity after the development has finished. 
This does not necessarily mean the same type of biodiversity or habitats 
are created as currently exists or created in the same place. It’s about an 
overall increase in habitats and biodiversity, once a proposal has been 
adjusted for what will be lost and what will be gained. Hence the term ‘net 
gain’. 

 
3.4 Successful implementation of Biodiversity Net Gain has the potential to 

restore and create new habitats that can provide a home for a diverse 
range of species thereby positively contributing to biodiversity recovery.  

 
3.5 Prior to Biodiversity Net Gain becoming mandatory from 12 February 

2024, Development Management published a draft Biodiversity Net Gain 
guidance note on 8 December 2023, aimed at the development industry 
(in relation to housing and non-residential) as well as anyone considering 
promoting land for habitat creation and enhancement in Enfield. As such, 
the primary audience for the document was planning applicants, 
developers, planning agents, ecologists, landowners, land managers, land 
agents and site promoters. It may also be of interest to a wide range of 
conservation bodies and other technical stakeholders and the general 
public to better prepare for planning submissions. 

 
3.6 The guidance note details: 
 

 The methodology for calculating Biodiversity Net Gain, including the 
Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy and the metrics, in addition to Enfield's 
approach when assessing and monitoring that measurable gains are 
achieved 

 Development applicable and exempt to Biodiversity Net Gain 

 How Biodiversity Net Gain will be integrated in Enfield’s Development 
Management process, including the requirements and conditions that 
applicants must follow to in order to achieve mandatory Biodiversity Net 
Gain. 

 
3.7 It should be noted that this guidance note is not formal planning policy. It 

does not establish a new planning policy, nor does it supersede any 
existing formally made planning policy. Instead, it sets out how Enfield 
Local Planning Authority intends to apply existing policy and prepare for 
Biodiversity Net Gain. 

Page 8



 

 

 
3.8 The intention is that this guidance note will be a live document, to be 

updated as necessary to respond to changes in national guidance and 
emerging local policy development. 

 
 
Relevance to Council Plans and Strategies 
 
4.1 The current Enfield Development Plan comprises:  
 
4.2 The London Borough of Enfield Local Development Framework Core 

Strategy (CS): The Enfield Plan (10th November 2010) 
4.3 The London Borough of Enfield Development Management Document 

(DMD) (on 19th November 2014) 
 
4.4 The Council’s policy position in respect of biodiversity builds upon existing 

national guidance and policy within the NPPF which makes biodiversity a 
material consideration. The newly proposed Biodiversity Net Gain metric 
and minimum target is welcome, especially to assess on a wider scale the 
increase in green infrastructure. Enfield’s CS and DMD already include a 
range of policies to help protect and enhance blue green space in the 
borough that are beneficial for health by providing opportunities for 
physical activity and through known benefits of blue green space on 
mental health and wellbeing. Relevant policies are listed below: 

 

Document  
 

Policy  

London Plan – Greater 
London Authority  

 

G1 – Green infrastructure  
G2 – London’s Green Belt  
G5 – Urban greening  
G6 – Biodiversity and access to Nature 
G7 – Trees and Woodland 

 

The London Borough of 
Enfield Local Development 
Framework Core Strategy 

 

CP36 – Biodiversity 

The London Borough of 
Enfield Development 
Management Document  

 

DMD78 – Nature Conservation  
DMD79 – Ecological Enhancements  

 

 
4.5 It is widely acknowledged that climate change and biodiversity are 

interconnected. Climate change has negative impacts on biodiversity and 
is likely to become one of the most significant drivers of biodiversity loss, 
and loss of biodiversity will have significant direct and indirect impacts on 
human life and human well-being. However, biodiversity also makes an 
important contribution to climate change mitigation and adaptation, which 
means that conserving and promoting biodiversity is critical in the fight 
against climate change.  

 

Page 9



 

 

4.6 In recognising the wider issue of climate change and biodiversity are 
interconnected, Enfield Local Planning Authority has published the 
following supplementary planning guidance:  

 

 Enfield Climate Action Plan (July 2020) 

 Enfield’s Blue and Green Strategy 2021-2031 (June 2021) 

 Enfield Biodiversity Action Plan (September 2011) 
 
4.7 The Council is currently in the process of producing a new Local Plan, the 

Emerging Local Plan (ELP). The ELP is expected to be submitted to the 
Government for examination in 2024/25 with a target for adoption in 
2025/26.  

 
4.8 The ELP sets out a higher requirement of 20% net gain to address the 

strategic opportunities for nature recovery in the borough, which if adopted 
would, under current law, take precedence over the nationally mandated 
10% Biodiversity Net Gain. 

 
4.9 Of particular relevance is draft Policy ‘BG4: Biodiversity Net Gain, 

Landscape Restoration and Offsetting’. 
 

4.10 This policy sets out how development proposals will be expected to 
enhance and increase biodiversity and mitigate or offset the harm arising 
from the loss of natural habitats (e.g., trees and river corridors) and 
ecological features, in response to the plan’s objective to create a distinct 
and leading part of London. Net gain is used as a proxy to measure the 
potential harmful effects arising from a development and calculate 
biodiversity net gain (e.g., habitat creation or enhancement). 

 
4.11 This requirement has been tested for viability impacts. Net gain 

measurements should be calculated using Defra’s biodiversity metric (an 
online tool) to establish the nature of the harm to biodiversity and the 
quality of the new green benefits arising from development as well as the 
anticipated costs of achieving a 10% level of net gain. In line with best 
practice, the provision of compensation to address residual biodiversity 
impacts will not be permitted unless the steps of the mitigation hierarchy 
(enhance, avoid or minimise, restore, compensate and offset habitat loss) 
set out in London Plan have been followed and all opportunities to avoid 
and then minimise negative impacts have been pursued.  

 
 

Report Author:  Gideon Whittingham 
  Planning Decisions Manager 
  Gideon.whittingham@enfield.gov.uk 
   020 8132 1623 
Appendices 
 
Draft Biodiversity Net Gain Guidance Note (8th December 2023) 
 

Page 10

mailto:Gideon.whittingham@enfield.gov.uk


 
 

1 | P a g e  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
Enfield Council  

Biodiversity Net Gain  
8th December 2023 

 
 

DRAFT Guidance Note  
 
 

www.enfield.gov.uk 

P
age 11



  
 

Page 2 of 40 
 
 

How to use this document  
 
The first section provides an overview and Enfield’s objectives in applying Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 
The second section sets out the legal and policy framework of Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 
The third section details the methodology for calculating Biodiversity Net Gain, including metrics, in addition to Enfield's approach when 
assessing and monitoring that measurable gains are achieved.  
 
The fourth section sets out how Biodiversity Net Gain will be integrated into Enfield’s Development Management process. This section will 
also specify the requirements and conditions that applicants must follow to in order to achieve Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 
 
 

• Section One   - Introduction to Biodiversity Net Gain 
 

• Section Two   - Biodiversity Net Gain Legal and Policy Framework  
 

• Section Three  - The Biodiversity Net Gain Approach  
 

• Section Four   - Integration of Biodiversity Net Gain into Development Management  
 
• Section Five   - Validation Requirements  

 
• Glossary 

 
  

P
age 12



  
 

Page 3 of 40 
 
 

Purpose of this Guidance Note 
 
As the statutory implementation date of January 2024 approaches, the purpose of this document is to provide interim guidance on Biodiversity 
Net Gain (BNG) and how new housing, industrial or commercial developments will deliver a mandatory minimum 10% gain. 
 
This document outlines the requirements of the Environment Act, National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and guidance from Natural 
England and the Chartered Institute of Ecology & Environmental Management (CIEEM). It also sets out how Biodiversity Net Gain is expected 
to make a meaningful contribution to nature recovery.  
 
The guidance note is primarily aimed at the development industry (in relation to housing and non-residential) as well as anyone considering 
promoting land for habitat creation and enhancement in Enfield. As such, the primary audience for the document is planning applicants, 
developers, planning agents, ecologists, landowners, land managers, land agents and site promoters. It may also be of interest to a wide range 
of conservation bodies and other technical stakeholders and the general public to better prepare for planning submissions. 
 
It should be noted that this guidance note is not a formal planning policy. It does not establish a new planning policy, nor does it supersede any 
existing formally made planning policy. Instead, it sets out how Enfield Local Planning Authority intends to apply existing policy and prepare for 
upcoming mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 
The intention is that this Guidance Note will be updated as necessary to respond to changes in national guidance and emerging local policy 
development. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 13



  
 

Page 4 of 40 
 
 

SECTION ONE 
 
An Introduction to Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain is an approach to development and associated land management that aims to leave biodiversity in a measurably better 
state than before. 
 
Given the continuing decline in Biodiversity in the UK and globally, it is no longer enough to identify protected species and aim to conserve 
designated sites through the development process. 
 
In seeking to drive Nature Recovery, the Government has introduced several measures including the mandating of measurable Biodiversity Net 
Gain in new development via the Environment Act 2021 (the Act). The Act includes a requirement for all future schemes including the 
development of land to deliver a mandatory minimum 10% Biodiversity Net Gain. This will include a requirement for the net gain to be 
maintained for at least 30 years. 
 
The objective is that biodiversity will be in a measurably better state after new development has happened than before the development has 
taken place. So, if a developer wants to build some new homes on a parcel of land, the developer will have to calculate what level of 
biodiversity exists before development takes place, and then demonstrate how habitats will be created to increase biodiversity after the 
development has finished. This does not necessarily mean the same type of biodiversity or habitats are created as currently exists or created in 
the same place. It’s about an overall increase in habitats and biodiversity, once a proposal has been adjusted for what will be lost and what will 
be gained. Hence the term ‘net gain’. 
 
Successful implementation of Biodiversity Net Gain has the potential to restore and create new habitats that can provide a home for a diverse 
range of species thereby positively contributing to biodiversity recovery.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 14



  
 

Page 5 of 40 
 
 

Objectives of Enfield’s Biodiversity Net Gain approach 
 
Biodiversity is the variety of life and its processes; including the variety of living organisms, the genetic differences amongst them, and the 
communities and ecosystems in which they occur. An ecosystem is a community of plants, animals and microorganisms, along with their 
environment, that function together as a unit (an ecosystem can be as large as a rainforest or as small as a rotting log). The UK has suffered a 
considerable decline in biodiversity over recent years as a result of human activity. 
 
Biodiversity is important in its own right and is an indicator of the wider health of the environment. Biodiversity is good for people’s quality of life. 
A diverse and healthy environment improves the quality of life and provides recreational and educational resources for all sectors of the 
community. Biodiversity provides natural services (sometimes referred to as ecosystem services). These are components of nature, directly 
enjoyed, consumed, or used to yield human well-being, and are key to our survival, providing amongst other things, food, clean air and water. 
Biodiversity will help us adapt to climate change; as the climate changes healthy ecosystems and the services they provide will be increasingly 
valuable (but at the same time biodiversity will be threatened by an increasingly unpredictable climate). 
 
To conserve our remaining biodiversity and reverse the recorded decline, the UK as a whole is moving towards measurable Biodiversity Net 
Gain throughout the planning process. The requirements of the Environment Act (2021) will ensure important ecosystem services are 
maintained and improved, as future developments look to not only conserve valuable habitats and species but enhance biodiversity via 
demonstratable measurable net gains. 
 
The Enfield Local Planning Authority is considering how it can help to reverse the decline in biodiversity while continuing to provide the housing 
and commercial development necessary for our thriving communities’ economic and social prosperity. 
 
The Emerging Local Plan, Climate Action Plan, Blue and Green Strategy and Biodiversity Action Plan have made a clear commitment to 
prioritising biodiversity and delivering a green Local Plan. As a result, biodiversity will be a priority in development as a general principle, and 
open spaces, new buildings and development design should deliver biodiversity benefits throughout.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 15



  
 

Page 6 of 40 
 
 

SECTION TWO 
 
National and Local Regulatory Framework 
 
This section sets out the legal and policy framework of Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 
The Environment Act 
 
The Environment Act 2021 (the Act) mandates Biodiversity Net Gain for development in England to ensure that the delivery of much-needed 
infrastructure and housing is not at the expense of vital biodiversity. 
 
The Act sets out that most developments will be legally required to demonstrate a mandatory minimum net gain of 10% and secure those gains for 
a minimum of 30 years.  
 
The Act sets out the following key components of mandatory biodiversity gain:  
 

• Amendment of Town & Country Planning Act (TCPA) 
• Requirement for a minimum 10% gain calculated using the Biodiversity Metric & approval of a biodiversity gain plan 
• Habitat is required to be secured for at least 30 years via planning obligations or conservation covenants 
• Delivered on-site, off-site or via a new government statutory biodiversity credits scheme (although this would be a last resort option)  
• The setting up of a national register for net gain delivery sites.  

 
It does not change existing legal protections for important habitats and wildlife species. It maintains the Mitigation Hierarchy of avoid impacts 
first, then mitigating and only compensating as a last resort. It will apply to Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) but not marine 
development. 
 
A two-year transition period for this requirement is included in the Act to implement net gain within the planning system. The requirements of the 
Act are expected to be mandatory by January 2024 for larger sites and early 2024 for smaller sites. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 16

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/schedule/14/enacted


  
 

Page 7 of 40 
 
 

National Planning Policy 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) December 2023 sets out the Government’s planning policies for England, providing the 
framework for local development plans that guide development, and as a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 
The NPPF has at its heart the core principle of sustainable development and sets out several requirements related to the securing of 
Biodiversity Net Gain through the planning system. 
 
The requirement for planning applications to deliver a net gain in biodiversity is set out in the NPPF.  
 
Paragraph 180 (d) requires that planning decisions enhance the natural and local environment by “minimising impacts on and providing net gains 
for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures”. 
 
Paragraph 185 (b) requires plans to “promote the conservation, restoration and enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the 
protection and recovery of priority species; and identify and pursue opportunities for securing measurable net gains for biodiversity”. 
 
Paragraph 186 (d) advises that “development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported; while 
opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments should be integrated as part of their design, especially where this can secure 
measurable net gains for biodiversity or enhance public access to nature where this is appropriate.” 
 
The Government’s guidance also sets out the biodiversity Mitigation Hierarchy and provides advice on how to achieve Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 
Regional Policy 
 
Under the legislation establishing the Greater London Authority (GLA), the Mayor is required to publish a Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) 
and keep it under review. The SDS is known as the London Plan. As the overall strategic plan for London, it sets out an integrated economic, 
environmental, transport and social framework for the development of London over the next 20-25 years.  
 
Policy G6 (Biodiversity and access to nature) of the London Plan (2021) advises that for development proposals should manage impacts on 
biodiversity and aim to secure net biodiversity gain. This should be informed by the best available ecological information and addressed from 
the start of the development process. 
 
 

P
age 17



  
 

Page 8 of 40 
 
 

Enfield’s Policy Alignment with Biodiversity Net Gain  
 
The current Enfield development plan comprises:  
 

• The London Borough of Enfield Local Development Framework Core Strategy (CS): The Enfield Plan (10th November 2010) 
• The London Borough of Enfield Development Management Document (DMD) (on 19th November 2014) 

 
The Council’s policy position in respect of biodiversity builds upon existing national guidance and policy within the NPPF which makes 
biodiversity a material consideration. The newly proposed Biodiversity Net Gain metric and minimum target is welcome, especially to assess on 
a wider scale the increase in green infrastructure. Enfield’s CS and DMD already include a range of policies to help protect and enhance blue 
green space in the borough that are beneficial for health by providing opportunities for physical activity and through known benefits of blue 
green space on mental health and wellbeing. Relevant policies are listed below: 
 
Document  
 

Policy  

London Plan – Greater London Authority  
 

G1 – Green infrastructure  
G2 – London’s Green Belt  
G5 – Urban greening  
G6 – Biodiversity and access to Nature 
G7 – Trees and Woodland 
 

The London Borough of Enfield Local Development Framework Core Strategy 
 

CP36 – Biodiversity 

The London Borough of Enfield Development Management Document  
 

DMD78 – Nature Conservation  
DMD79 – Ecological Enhancements  
 

 
It is widely acknowledged that climate change and biodiversity are interconnected. Climate change has negative impacts on biodiversity and is 
likely to become one of the most significant drivers of biodiversity loss, and loss of biodiversity will have significant direct and indirect impacts 
on human life and human well-being. However, biodiversity also makes an important contribution to climate change mitigation and adaptation, 
which means that conserving and promoting biodiversity is critical in the fight against climate change.  
 

P
age 18



  
 

Page 9 of 40 
 
 

In recognising the wider issue of climate change and biodiversity are interconnected, Enfield Local Planning Authority has published the 
following supplementary planning guidance:  
 

• Enfield Climate Action Plan (July 2020) 
• Enfield’s Blue and Green Strategy 2021-2031 (June 2021) 
• Enfield Biodiversity Action Plan (September 2011) 
• Mayor of London – Urban Greening for Biodiversity Net Gain: A Design Guide (2021) 

 
The Council is currently in the process of producing a new Local Plan, the Emerging Local Plan (ELP) December 2023. The ELP is expected to 
be submitted to the Government for examination in 2024/25 with a target for adoption in 2025/26.  
 
The ELP sets out the ambition for 20% Biodiversity Net Gain across Enfield to address the strategic opportunities for nature recovery in the 
borough.  
 
Of relevance is Policy ‘BG4: Biodiversity Net Gain, Landscape Restoration and Offsetting’ and is included below. 
 
This policy sets out how development proposals will be expected to enhance and increase biodiversity and mitigate or offset the harm arising 
from the loss of natural habitats (e.g., trees and river corridors) and ecological features, in response to the plan’s objective to create a distinct 
and leading part of London. Net gain is used as a proxy to measure the potential harmful effects arising from a development and calculate 
biodiversity net gain (e.g., habitat creation or enhancement). 
 
The Environment Act has introduced a 10% mandatory requirement for biodiversity net gain within development, operational from January 
2024. The ELP sets out a higher requirement of 20% net gain to support the authority’s ambitious nature recovery plans which have 
been recognised by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), This requirement has been tested for viability impacts. 
Net gain measurements should be calculated using Defra’s biodiversity metric (an online tool) to establish the nature of the harm to biodiversity 
and the quality of the new green benefits arising from development as well as the anticipated costs of achieving a 10% level of net gain. In line 
with best practice, the provision of compensation to address residual biodiversity impacts will not be permitted unless the steps of the mitigation 
hierarchy (enhance, avoid or minimise, restore, compensate and offset habitat loss) set out in London Plan have been followed and all 
opportunities to avoid and then minimise negative impacts have been pursued.  
 
 
 

P
age 19



  
 

Page 10 of 40 
 
 

BG4: Biodiversity Net Gain, Landscape Restoration and offsetting 
 
1. All development proposals shall be considered in light of the mitigation hierarchy (avoid, mitigate and compensate) to protect most valuable 
ecological features of the site and minimise harm to nature. Measures will also be sought to increase or improve biodiversity through the 
restoration and re-creation of priority habitats and ecological networks and the protection and recovery of protected wildlife populations, 
especially where there are gaps across existing corridors.  
 
2. Applicants must submit an action plan setting out how biodiversity will be improved as a result of the development to offset the loss or 
degradation of natural habitat on site (using the latest DEFRA metric model). The action plan will need to provide evidence of how the 
development will achieve a minimum of 20% net gain, including habitat creation, preferably on site. DEFRA has now confirmed a draft list of 
eight irreplaceable priority habitats which cannot form part of the net gain calculations and where bespoke mitigation must be agreed where 
harm is identified. BG4: Biodiversity Net Gain, Landscape Restoration and offsetting strategic policy  
 
3. Where the 20% minimum requirement cannot be met on site, or would be better served elsewhere, adequate off-site compensation provision 
must be provided to an equivalent of better standard to offset the loss of habitats arising from the proposed development.  
 
4. All proposals for biodiversity net gain in Enfield will be required to have regard to emerging Enfield Chase Landscape Recovery Strategy and 
subsequent London Local Nature Recovery Strategy. The Blue and Green Infrastructure Strategy sets out the evidence demonstrating that 
there are clear ecological benefits to investing in biodiversity net gain within Enfield. For the purposes of the Biodiversity Metric Calculation, the 
Enfield Chase Landscape Recovery Area is defined as having High Strategic Significance. Proposals which could lead to losses of biodiversity 
within the Enfield Chase Landscape Recovery Area will be resisted, even where compensatory credits can be provided elsewhere as this could 
compromise the area’s strategic significance. Particular priority will be given towards contributions to native tree planting, river naturalisation 
and other habitat creation schemes in this area which compliment public accessibility. 
 
 
 
Developers will be expected to submit a detailed action plan to ensure that biodiversity measures can be properly considered at the planning 
application stage, including details of the predevelopment biodiversity value of the site and the steps taken to avoid any adverse effects from 
development.  
 
 
 

P
age 20



  
 

Page 11 of 40 
 
 

As a general rule, biodiversity gain should be provided on site. Where this is not practicable or viable (e.g., due to its size or location), off-site 
mitigation measures will be sought from developers to achieve net gain of at least an equivalent standard in line with the provisions set out in 
the biodiversity metric. Any contributions will be calculated on a site-by-site basis, based on the cost of mitigation.  
 
Contributions will be sought towards enhancements to Enfield’s emerging nature recovery network and the DEFRA funded Enfield Chase 
Landscape Recovery Programme as well as to the creation of buffer zones, removal of invasive species, planting of native species and river 
restoration projects (as set out in Enfield’s Blue and Green Strategy and Biodiversity Action Plan). Applicants should also consider opportunities 
to upgrade and enhance existing sites of nature conservation importance (as shown on the Policies Map) and habitat corridors within non-
designated areas. In line with DEFRA guidelines these measures will need to be maintained over a minimum of 30 years. 
 
Enfield’s Interim Applicability of Biodiversity Net Gain  
 
The Government confirmed that as of January 2024, mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain will apply to all development that falls under the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, subject to several exemptions including permitted development and householder applications (see 
‘Applications exempt from Biodiversity Net Gain’) 
 
In the interim period before Biodiversity Net Gain becomes mandatory, the Enfield’s approach is to implement existing national and local policy 
in a way which matches best practice. Such best practice is similar to how mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain will operate, so it’s a good 
opportunity to help both developers and decision-makers get familiar with what Biodiversity Net Gain is and how it should be applied. 
 
Once Biodiversity Net Gain becomes mandatory, Enfield Local Planning Authority reserves the right in a future update of the ELP, policies to 
instruct a higher percentage Biodiversity Net Gain target(s) which if adopted would, under current law, take precedence over the nationally 
mandated 10% Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 
Enfield’s Emerging Local Plan sets out the ambition for 20% Biodiversity Net Gain across Enfield to address the strategic opportunities for 
nature recovery in the borough. Once the plan is adopted this will be a requirement. Until that time, the NPPF states that local planning 
authorities may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans, and therefore the requirement is a material consideration. 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 21



  
 

Page 12 of 40 
 
 

SECTION THREE 
 
The Biodiversity Net Gain Approach 
 
This section details the methodology for calculating Biodiversity Net Gain, including the Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy and the metrics, in addition 
to Enfield's approach when assessing and monitoring that measurable gains are achieved.  
 
In advance of Biodiversity Net Gain becoming mandate, Enfield continues to support development proposals that incorporate other principles to 
measure biodiversity such as the Mitigation Hierarchy and Biodiversity Net Gain Principles in accordance with the NPPF, also outlined in this 
section. 
 
Applicable Development  
 
All major development and minor development that meets the following thresholds, as defined in The Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 and Small Sites Metric will be encouraged to deliver Biodiversity Net Gain during 
this interim period, however it will not be a requirement (see table below). 
  
This is the agreed position until the mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain requirement comes into place in January 2024 - for major development, 
April 2024 - for minor development) and late November 2025 for nationally significant infrastructure projects. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 22



  
 

Page 13 of 40 
 
 

 Residential development  
 

Non-residential development  
 

Interim period before 
BNG becomes 
mandatory 

When BNG becomes 
Mandatory  

Major 
development  
 

Where the number of dwellings 
to be provided is ten or more 
 
OR  
 
where the number of dwellings 
to be provided is not known, on 
a site area 0.5 hectares or 
more.  

The provision of a building or buildings 
where the floor space to be created by the 
development is 1,000 square metres or 
more  
 
OR  
 
development carried out on a site having 
an area of one hectare or more.  
 
OR  
 
all full applications for minerals and waste 
developments  
 

Expected to provide a 
minimum 10% 
Biodiversity Net Gain, 
avoiding harm to 
existing biodiversity in 
accordance with the 
ecological Mitigation 
Hierarchy. 
 
 
 

A minimum 10% 
Biodiversity Net Gain as 
measured with the most 
up to date version of the 
Defra Biodiversity 
Metric. 

Minor 
development  
 

Where the number of dwellings 
to be provided is between one 
and nine inclusive on a site 
having an area of less than one 
hectare 
 
OR  
 
where the number of dwellings 
is unknown on a site area of 
less than 0.5 hectares  

Where the floor space to be created is less 
than 1,000 square metres  
 
OR  
 
where the site area is less than one 
hectare.  

Encouraged to provide 
a minimum 10% 
Biodiversity Net Gain, 
avoiding harm to 
existing biodiversity in 
accordance with the 
ecological Mitigation 
Hierarchy. 

A minimum 10% 
Biodiversity Net Gain as 
measured with the most 
up to date version of the  
Defra Small Sites 
Biodiversity Metric  

 
Mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain will only apply to new applications for planning permission for major development made after January 2024, 
minor development from April 2024 and nationally significant infrastructure projects from November 2025. 

P
age 23



  
 

Page 14 of 40 
 
 

Applications exempt from Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
The Government confirmed the following developments shall be exempt from mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain: 
 

• development impacting habitat of an area below a ‘de minimis’ threshold of 25 metres squared, or 5m for linear habitats such as 
hedgerows  

• householder applications  
• biodiversity gain sites (where the habitats are being enhanced for wildlife) 
• small scale self-build and custom housebuilding (further definitions will follow)  
• applications with temporary impacts that can be restored within two years  
• sites which are solely made up of an existing sealed surface (such as tarmac or existing buildings) as these have zero biodiversity value  

 
The Environment Act 2021 already makes exemptions for prior approval applications, permitted development, approval of reserved matters, 
urgent crown development and development related to High Speed 2 (HS2).  
 
For permission in principle applications (PIPs), Biodiversity Net Gain information will be required at the technical details application stage 
(unless this is amended by subsequent DEFRA guidance) rather than with the PIP application. Biodiversity Net Gain will also not apply to listed 
building consent applications, but please note that if these are made jointly with a full application which is not exempt from Biodiversity Net 
Gain, then Biodiversity Net Gain will be required for the full application.  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain will not apply to Section 73 applications to vary the conditions imposed on an existing permission approved prior to 
January 2024 for major development, April 2024 for minor development and November 2025 (expected) for nationally significant infrastructure 
projects. However, Biodiversity Net Gain will apply to Section 73 applications seeking to vary the conditions imposed on the existing permission 
and which will alter the post-development biodiversity value. 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain will not apply to Outline consents for major applications approved prior to January 2024, however the subsequent 
reserved matters application(s) will not need to incorporate Biodiversity Net Gain.  
 
Although the above-mentioned developments are exempt from mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain, they still provide opportunities for biodiversity 
enhancements which could be secured through planning policy. In addition, being exempt from Biodiversity Net Gain does not mean the 
development is exempt from wider nature related policy requirements, such as protected species, trees or habitats. 
 

P
age 24

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/biodiversity-net-gain-exempt-developments


  
 

Page 15 of 40 
 
 

Applicants are encouraged to make use of the Council’s Pre-application Service to further understand the specific requirements in relation to 
their site.  
 
Achieving Mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
The biodiversity gain objective of at least a 10% gain is measured against the pre-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat for the 
development. The objective is met if this value is exceeded by at least 10% through a combination of: 
 

• onsite biodiversity gains measured as part of the post-development biodiversity value of the on-site habitat for the development 
• registered offsite biodiversity gains which have been allocated to the development; and 
• the purchase of biodiversity credits for the development 

 
Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy 
 
The Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy (which Local Planning Authorities such as Enfield must take account of when determining the Biodiversity Gain 
Plan) emphasises that on-site biodiversity gains should be considered first followed by registered offsite biodiversity gains and – as a last resort 
– biodiversity credits.  
 
The Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy means the following actions in the following order of priority: 
 

1. avoiding adverse effects of the development on onsite habitat with a habitat distinctiveness score, applied in the biodiversity metric, 
equal to or higher than six 

2. so far as those adverse effects cannot be avoided, mitigating those effects 
3. so far as those adverse effects cannot be mitigated, habitat enhancement of onsite habitat 
4. so far as there cannot be that enhancement, creation of onsite habitat 
5. so far as there cannot be that creation, the availability of registered offsite biodiversity gain 
6. so far as that offsite habitat enhancement cannot be secured, purchasing biodiversity credits. 

 
Developers are encouraged to follow the Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy from the earliest stage possible when selecting a site and considering 
development proposals. 
 

P
age 25



  
 

Page 16 of 40 
 
 

Before Biodiversity Net Gain becomes mandatory however, Enfield Local Planning Authority expects that other biodiversity principles such as 
The Mitigation Hierarchy and Good Practice Principles for Development are fully considered alongside Biodiversity Net Gain.  
 
 
The Mitigation Hierarchy 
 
The NPPF requires that applications satisfy the requirements of the Mitigation Hierarchy, of avoid, mitigate and compensate, and where a 
development cannot, planning permission should be refused. The Mitigation Hierarchy remains a critical element of national and local policy 
and is essential for delivering the most sustainable and appropriate solutions for the natural environment. The Mitigation Hierarchy requires that 
developments first seek to avoid impacts on biodiversity; minimise impacts where they cannot be avoided; mitigate any impacts that cannot be 
avoided or minimised; and as a last resort, compensate for losses which cannot be avoided, minimised or mitigated. Use of the mitigation 
hierarchy can help to minimise the gains required by a development.  
 

 

P
age 26



  
 

Page 17 of 40 
 
 

The Mitigation Hierarchy is a separate consideration from Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy, and the introduction of the Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy 
does not weaken, undermine or replace the Mitigation Hierarchy as a consideration. Biodiversity Net gain is additional to the hierarchy and only 
applies once the impacts on biodiversity have been avoided, mitigated and compensated. However, the statutory provisions mandatory 
Biodiversity Net Gain are an important material consideration that in many cases will take precedence over local planning policy. The statutory 
framework represents the appropriate national approach towards, and benchmark for, biodiversity gains in planning and will therefore be given 
the appropriate weight. 
 
The Government’s guidance indicates that decision makers should generally not give weight to local policy which requires biodiversity gains for 
types of development which would now be exempt under the statutory framework. Other local biodiversity policies which require specific 
enhancements to support biodiversity would continue to apply to these applications where appropriate.  
 
Good Practice Principles for Development 
 
The guidance document ‘Biodiversity Net Gain: Good Practice Principles for Development’, sets out ten good practice key principles, which 
provide a framework for achieving an overall benefit for biodiversity. 
 
The principles should be applied all together as a unified approach: 
 

1. Apply the Mitigation Hierarchy 
2. Avoid losing biodiversity that cannot be offset by gains elsewhere 
3. Be inclusive and equitable 
4. Address risks 
5. Make a measurable Net Gain contribution 
6. Achieve the best outcomes for biodiversity 
7. Be additional 
8. Create a Net Gain legacy 
9. Optimise sustainability 
10.Be transparent 

 
The ‘Good Practice Principles for Development’ and ‘The Mitigation Hierarchy’ both require development proposals to apply the ecological 
Mitigation Hierarchy in order to result in no significant ecological harm. Through the hierarchy, significant harm should be avoided in the first 
instance, mitigated where impacts cannot be avoided and compensated for only as a last resort.  

P
age 27

https://cieem.net/resource/biodiversity-net-gain-good-practice-principles-for-development/


  
 

Page 18 of 40 
 
 

 
Only as a last resort, and if compensating for losses on-site is not possible through careful design, then biodiversity losses should be offset by 
gains off-site.  
 
Measuring Mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain  
 
Enfield Local Planning Authority expects that Biodiversity Net Gain will be measured using the latest version of DEFRA’s ‘Biodiversity Metric’ 
(the Metric) or the Small Sites Metric (effectively a simplified metric with modifying condition values pre-populated) and be in accordance with 
the UK Habitat Classification methodology, applied to both baseline habitat and on-site linear feature units such as rivers, streams and 
hedgerows. This is a habitat-based approach used to assess an area's value to wildlife and uses habitat features to calculate a biodiversity 
value (no. of 'biodiversity units'). 
 
The DEFRA metric should be used to assign a unit score to the site before development. The information needed to populate the metric should 
be taken from habitat surveys of the site before development and any related habitat clearance or management. It should then be used to 
assign an estimated unit score to the site after the proposed development takes place, considering habitats proposed on-site and if necessary, 
additional habitat improvement off-site. 
 
Some major sites may not be suitable for delivering Biodiversity Net Gain on-site, for example where site characteristics may mean there is not 
the opportunity to deliver on-site such as limited open space being provided on-site in urban settings. In this instance, Enfield Local Planning 
Authority would consider off-site Biodiversity Net Gain, provided a suitable project has been identified in agreement with the Enfield Local 
Planning Authority to deliver this. 
 
The application of the Mitigation Hierarchy and the integration of Biodiversity Net Gain will require consideration from an early stage of 
development. Ideally, an ecological consultant should be engaged at the earliest opportunity, before the design phase of the development, to 
ensure sites selected are suitable for development, that a net gain on the site is feasible and will avoid the need to retrofit Biodiversity Net Gain 
measures at a late stage resulting in costly changes to design proposals. 
 
The level of net gain is established by comparing the ‘pre-development’ unit score with the ‘post development’ unit score and must represent an 
increase of at least 10% as below. 
 
For more guidance on statutory biodiversity metric tools please see here. 
 

P
age 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-biodiversity-metric-tools-and-guides
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-biodiversity-metric-tools-and-guides


  
 

Page 19 of 40 
 
 

DEFRA Metric Calculation  
 
Pre-Development Baseline Biodiversity Value  
 

 
 
 
 
Post-Development Biodiversity Value  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Size Distinctiveness Condition Strategic 
significance  

Baseline -
biodiversity units

Size Distinctiveness Condition Strategic 
significance  Difficulty Time to target 

condition Spatial Risk 
Future-

biodiversity 
units 

Future biodiversity units Baseline biodiversity units Net Loss (-) or Gain (+)

P
age 29



  
 

Page 20 of 40 
 
 

Metric Term  Explanation  
 

Size  The size of the habitat parcel to be retained, enhanced, created, or lost. Size is measured in hectares for area 
features, or in kilometres for linear features. The metric accepts size measurements to any number of decimal 
places.  
 

Distinctiveness 
 

A measure based on the type of habitat and its distinguishing features. This includes consideration of species 
richness, rarity, the extent to which the habitat is protected by designations and the degree to which a habitat 
supports species rarely found in other habitats. 
 

Condition 
 

A measure of the habitat against its ecological optimum state. Condition is a way of measuring variation in the 
quality of patches of the same habitat type 
 

Strategic significance  Describes the local significance of the habitat based on its location and the habitat type.  
 

Difficulty A measure which represents the uncertainty in the effectiveness of management techniques used to enhance or 
create habitat. 
 

Time to target condition  The average time taken between starting creation or enhancement of habitats and that habitat reaching its target 
condition and or distinctiveness. 
 

Spatial risk 
 

Spatial risk represents the relationship between the location of biodiversity loss (on-site) and where the off-site 
habitat is being delivered. This is applied to off-site interventions only. The metric penalises proposals where the 
off-site habitats are far away from the site of impact. This is done to avoid reducing biodiversity in the local areas, 
recognising the importance of ecosystem services provided to the local community.  
 

 
The metric will show the amount of habitat to be created/restored in terms of biodiversity units. The process involves being able to recognise 
different habitat types down to a detailed level and an understanding of their current condition, therefore it is recommended that it is completed 
by a competent person who has the knowledge and skills to perform specified tasks to complete and review biodiversity metric calculations.  
 

P
age 30



  
 

Page 21 of 40 
 
 

This can be obtained through training, qualifications, experience, or a combination of them. Competency aligned with the British Standard 
‘Process for designing and implementing biodiversity net gain (BS 8683:202)’. 
 
Enfield Local Planning Authority recommend the metric assessment be completed by a competent person as follows:  
 

• Biodiversity Metric Assessment - A suitably qualified ecologist who has achieved Field Identification Skills Certificate (FISC) of Level 3 
or above or holds a CIEEM accreditation. Evidence will need to be provided showing the required qualifications of the appointed 
Ecological consultant. 

 
• Small Sites Metric Assessment – A person capable in identifying habitats present on the site before the development and identifying the 

management requirements for habitats which will be created or enhanced within the landscape design. The competent person must 
carry out the habitat survey and assessment and be able to confidently identify the habitats likely to occur in a given geographic location 
at the time of year the survey is undertaken. 

 
You must be a qualified assessor to undertake a river condition assessment. 
 
Evidence for metric decisions should be provided and signposted within the ‘User comments’ column of the metric calculation tool. 
 
Exempt applications will not be required to achieve Biodiversity Net Gain through use of Biodiversity Metric calculations at this stage.  
Applications for new single dwellings (or possibly other small applications where it has been agreed that Biodiversity Metric calculations will not 
be applied due to very low ecological baseline value) will still be expected to demonstrate general biodiversity enhancements by provision of 
integral bat roosting features and integral bird nesting features.     
 
Deliberate Devaluing of the Baseline Habitat 
 
The Council will not tolerate the deliberate clearing of valuable habitats before applying a biodiversity metric to a proposed development site. 
Schedule 12 of the Environment Act (2021) deters against site clearance ahead of a planning application by allowing planning authorities to 
recognise any habitat degradation since 30th January 2020 and to take the earlier habitat state as the baseline for Biodiversity Net Gain. 
Where there is evidence of pre-emptive clearance occurring on site before ecological surveys have been carried out (such as removal of 
vegetation, including trees, or loss of other habitat features such as hedgerows or ponds) their deteriorated condition before such changes 
occurred will not be taken into consideration and the ecological potential of the site will be used to decide the acceptability of any development 
proposals. 

P
age 31

https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/process-for-designing-and-implementing-biodiversity-net-gain-specification?version=standard


  
 

Page 22 of 40 
 
 

Location of Biodiversity Net Gain Provision 
 
The Biodiversity Net Gain approach embeds a spatial hierarchy of habitat delivery, where there is a preference for on-site habitat creation and 
enhancement in the first instance. The Biodiversity Metric incentivises habitat delivery on or close to the development site through a Spatial 
Risk Multiplier, which reduces the biodiversity value of habitats delivered further away from the development. An expectation for Biodiversity 
Net Gains should be borne in mind in decisions to acquire sites. Biodiversity Net Gain should then be designed into the scheme at the earliest 
point and should be suitable to the locality. 
 
On-site delivery  
 
On-site is land where the application site boundaries and all land necessary to carry out the proposed development (i.e., land required for 
access to the site from the road), typically outlined in red on submitted plans. 
 
On-site does not include any other land owned by the applicant that is close to or adjacent to the property, typically outlined in blue on 
submitted plans. 
 
In securing the on-site Biodiversity Net Gain, the biodiversity value should be maintained for at least 30 years after the development is 
completed and secured by: 
 

a) a condition subject to which the planning permission is granted, 
b) a planning obligation, or 
c) a conservation covenant 

 
There may be some instances where a minimum of 10% Biodiversity Net Gain cannot be delivered on-site and may involve off-site provision. In 
such instances, this should be demonstrated through submitted evidence to be agreed with Enfield Local Planning Authority.  
 
In instances where a site is adjacent to a watercourse that is in full/part ownership of the applicant, the watercourse needs to be included within 
the red line site boundary and considered as part of Biodiversity Net Gain. Where a watercourse is in part ownership then the red line boundary 
should run to the centre of the watercourse. 
 

P
age 32



  
 

Page 23 of 40 
 
 

Where an applicant’s red line boundary covers or falls within the riparian zone (defined as 10 metres from the bank top of any river, stream or 
canal), but excludes the channel of the watercourse, then the river metric (including the condition assessment) will need to be applied. In 
instances where this may occur then any adjacent lengths of watercourse must be included within a metric assessment. 
 
Off-site delivery 
 
Off-site delivery of Biodiversity Net Gain can be achieved in two ways: 
 

• Off-site land under the control of the applicant located nearby to deliver the Biodiversity Net Gain works required. 
• Off-site land under the control of a third party to take on the responsibility to deliver the Biodiversity Net Gain works required. 

(Statutory Credits) 
 
All off-site Biodiversity Net Gain, in the Environment Act called a ‘biodiversity gain site,’ has to be on the national Biodiversity Net Gain register 
that will be run by Natural England. 
 
In securing the off-site Biodiversity Net Gain, the biodiversity value should be maintained for at least 30 years after the development is 
completed and secured by: 
 

a) a planning obligation, or 
b) a conservation covenant 

 
In cases where Biodiversity Net Gain is delivered off-site, it will be prioritised in areas covered by Enfield’s Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
(LNRS) and located as close as possible to the development site. 
 
Where off-site Biodiversity Net Gain provision is proposed a binding legal agreement between the landowner (whose land will accommodate 
the off-site provision) and the developer will be required to ensure the planned habitat enhancement is achievable. The landowner will then be 
legally obliged to deliver the required outcomes as per the agreement, so they will need to be sure the habitat enhancement is physically and 
financially achievable.  
 
When submitting off-site Biodiversity Net Gain to the Biodiversity Register the developer will also need to include Habitat Management and 
Monitoring Plans (HMMP). Templates will be made available by Natural England before Biodiversity Net Gain becomes mandatory. 
 

P
age 33



  
 

Page 24 of 40 
 
 

The legal agreement between the landowner and developer and Biodiversity Registration will need to have been completed before submitting 
the Biodiversity Gain Statement (Core information) as part of a planning application. 
 
The small sites metric is not appropriate for use where off-site habitat enhancement is proposed for development proposals of any size.  
 
Enfield Local Planning Authority is not registered as a Responsible Body for the purposes of signing conservation covenants. As such, at this 
stage conservation covenants cannot be used to secure claimed biodiversity gains. Enfield Local Planning Authority may review its position 
with regards to conservation covenants and potential status as a Responsible Body in due course, but from day one of implementation, this 
route will not be available to applicants in Enfield.  
 
Off-site delivery - Beyond Enfield Local Planning Authority boundary 
 
There may be instances where it is acceptable for an applicant / developer to rely on off-site gains beyond the boundaries of Enfield Local 
Planning Authority. Off-site delivery mechanisms outside of Enfield Local Planning Authority must be secured in the same way (i.e. via planning 
obligation or conservation covenant). However, Enfield Local Planning Authority will not be party to any legal agreements beyond the 
boundaries of Enfield. Instead, a planning obligation would need to be signed with the relevant local planning authority within which the off-site 
solution is located, or a conservation covenant with a suitable Responsible Body.  
 
Exceptions 
 
The application of the Biodiversity Net Gain approach does not replace existing protection for habitats and species that exists within planning 
policy and legislation. This includes the legal protections afforded to species and statutory sites, which are separate from the planning process, 
and the policy requirements that relate to priority habitats and species, irreplaceable habitats and protected sites, whether these be through 
direct or indirect impacts. If present within or near to a development, impacts to these features will continue to be considered in accordance 
with the policy requirements, and in line with the legal responsibilities of Enfield Local Planning Authority. 
 
Any biodiversity units resulting from mitigation and compensation sites for protected species and protected sites can only be used to achieve no 
net loss. Therefore, the requirement for a minimum 10% Biodiversity Net Gain would still need to be achieved elsewhere onsite or through 
offsite provision. 
 
 

P
age 34



  
 

Page 25 of 40 
 
 

The losses to irreplaceable habitats, including habitats within Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Protection Areas (SPA), Special 
Areas of Conservation (SAC), Ramsar sites or Local Wildlife Sites (LWS, Ancient Seminatural woodland, Plantations on Ancient Woodland 
sites and other habitats considered to be of high distinctiveness (such as blanket bogs, upland hay meadows, etc.) cannot be accounted for 
within the metric and in all such cases the requirement for bespoke compensation will need to be discussed with all relevant bodies, including 
Enfield Local Planning Authority. 
  

P
age 35



  
 

Page 26 of 40 
 
 

SECTION FOUR 
 
Integration of Biodiversity Net Gain into Development Management  
 
There are 5 key stages in Enfield’s Development Management process:  

• Development site selection 
• Pre-application 
• Submission and Validation 
• Consideration and Determination 
• Pre-commencement  
• Commencement and Monitoring  
• Enforcement  

 
This section sets out how Biodiversity Net Gain will be integrated at each stage. This section will also specify the requirements and conditions 
that applicants must follow to in order to achieve mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain. 
  
Development site selection 
 
The prospective applicant should consider the location, context and appropriateness of developing their site from an ecological perspective. 
This can help to understand the broad potential feasibility of developing the site and to scope out the range of constraints, opportunities and 
impacts. Ecological advice should be incorporated into site selection from the outset.  
 
This should include locating and designing development to have minimum impact on existing site habitats and focusing development on areas 
of low distinctiveness. The mitigation hierarchy should always be applied and impacts upon protected, irreplaceable and priority habitats 
avoided. If wildlife impacts are likely, the applicant should appoint qualified ecologist to produce an Ecological Impact Assessment, the scale of 
which will be proportionate to the scale of potential impacts. Baseline ecological surveys should be undertaken, and the statutory Biodiversity 
Metric used as early as possible to identify options with the least impact. Identify which option will be of greatest benefit to wildlife and reduce 
the need and cost for additional Biodiversity Net Gain compensation.  
 
 
 
 

P
age 36



  
 

Page 27 of 40 
 
 

Pre-application Stage  
 
You can engage in pre-application discussions with Enfield Local Planning Authority to identify whether or not your proposal is likely to be 
acceptable, what can be done to make your application acceptable, how we will apply our policies to your proposal and which type of 
application form you will need and the related or supporting information you will need to submit. 
 
We encourage all applicants to seek advice before submitting an application. Getting early advice on biodiversity matters is essential, given the 
climate and ecological crisis, the need for better access to nature for Enfield’s residents and the Local Planning Authorities’ commitment to 
delivering Biodiversity Net Gain through the planning system.  
 
For larger and more complex sites, Enfield Local Planning Authority may request that the applicant signs up to a Planning Performance 
Agreement (PPA) which can provide improved certainty for both parties and ensure enhanced bespoke levels of service from the Council in 
exchange for proportionate and reasonable costs being covered by the applicant. PPAs can cover all or just part of a development process but 
work best when covering the full period from pre-application through to delivery. Where a PPA is agreed, appropriate and costed, Enfield Local 
Planning Authority and Ecology Service resourcing will be identified within it.  
 
Also for larger and more complex sites, Enfield Local Planning Authority may request that the development proposal is referred to the Enfield’s 
Design Review Panel. This provides prospective applicants with a chance to understand how their site can respond to its context and 
opportunities to deliver high quality development. Engagement with this process at the pre-application stage is the most productive, economic 
and advantageous way to approach things, as this can assist in designing in appropriate responses from the outset rather than trying to retrofit 
responses into recommendations around elements of a fixed design. This can be particularly helpful in terms of designing in a site’s approach 
to Biodiversity Net Gain. Further information can be found at  
 
Considering Biodiversity Net Gain at the initial stages of the development management process will help to achieve better outcomes for 
biodiversity and will avoid the need to retrofit Biodiversity Net Gain measures at a late stage resulting in costly changes to design proposals. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 37

https://www.enfield.gov.uk/services/planning/planning-pre-application-advice-service
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/services/planning/enfield-design-review-panel
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/services/planning/enfield-design-review-panel


  
 

Page 28 of 40 
 
 

Submission and Validation Stage  
 
Biodiversity Assessment 
 
In advance of Biodiversity Net Gain becoming mandatory, Biodiversity assessments (that could include a preliminary ecological appraisal or 
ecological impact assessment) are already submitted with planning applications. These assessments should consider the risk of the 
development creating adverse effects on the stability of adjacent land and/or infrastructure, which should include canal infrastructure, and 
identify the extent to which mitigation measures may be needed to minimise such risks.  
 
An applicant must have established a proposed approach to delivering at least 10% Biodiversity Net Gain by the time a planning application is 
submitted. This does not mean that the applicant has a fully developed Biodiversity Gain Plan or Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan 
(HMMP), but that it has sufficient understanding of how it will approach compliance with the statutory requirement, and justifications associated.  
 
Mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain  
 
A Biodiversity Net Gain Statement must be submitted containing all necessary “biodiversity gain information” as set out within the Environment 
Act 2021 and any subsequent secondary legislation (for more guidance see ‘Section Five - Validation Requirements’) and can include: 

• Wildlife / Ecology Survey  
• Biodiversity Checklist  
• Arboriculture Report  
• Biodiversity Net Gain Statement  
• Completed Biodiversity Metric  
• Biodiversity Net Gain plans and drawings  
• GIS data  
• Declaration Form  

 
On receiving an application, Enfield Local Planning Authority officers will check:  

• whether an application is Biodiversity Net Gain ‘liable’  
• whether all of the above listed validation requirements have been submitted  
• whether the headline results page of the submitted Metric identifies any errors or red flags  
• whether the declaration form includes all necessary aspects for the type of application submitted.  

 

P
age 38



  
 

Page 29 of 40 
 
 

Consideration and Determination Stage 
 
Once satisfied that the information submitted is accurate, satisfactory and sufficient with reference to statutory requirements, adopted policy 
and in relation to the Guidance Note, Enfield Local Planning Authority can proceed towards determination. 

 
Officers will consider whether sufficient information has been provided to answer the following questions:  

• Has the Metric been completed properly?  
• Has the mitigation hierarchy been followed?  
• Has the proposal followed the sequential approach and provided appropriate justification?  
• Does the development and associated Biodiversity Net Gain align with the Enfield’s Biodiversity Net Gain Principles?  
• Has the strategic significance multiplier been applied and justified appropriately?  
• Have they got a clear strategy for securing any off-site gains?  
• Have they been clear about how gains will be achieved across the whole site through future phases (where relevant)?  
• Are their proposals for securing the gains, management, maintenance and monitoring appropriate?  

 
Enfield Local Planning Authority intends to develop template planning conditions and planning obligations; however, these are not yet available. 
 
When determining an application, Biodiversity Net Gain will often be a material consideration, and Enfield Local Planning Authority will want to 
consider, where relevant, whether the general Biodiversity Net Gain condition is capable of being discharged successfully through the 
imposition of conditions and agreement of planning obligations to secure significant on-site biodiversity gains and registered offsite gains. 
 
In securing Biodiversity Net Gain, the biodiversity value should be maintained for at least 30 years after the development is completed and 
secured by: 

a) The national deemed condition subject to which the planning permission is granted, 
b) a planning obligation, or 
c) a conservation covenant 
 

If significant on-site gains are planned or there is any reliance upon off-site gains or statutory credits, then the means of securing these gains 
must be identified in any emerging planning obligation.  

 
If the information listed in the validation stage is not submitted, or is submitted but in inadequate form, and is found by the Local Planning 
Authority to be necessary to demonstrate relevant policies have been satisfied, then your application will usually be refused. 

P
age 39



  
 

Page 30 of 40 
 
 

Pre-commencement Stage 
 
Following determination, the applicant / developer works up the final detail of their Biodiversity Net Gain proposal in line with the approved 
Biodiversity Net Gain Statement and other approved plans of the application. The final Metric is completed in full.  
 
Where reliant upon an off-site solution, the applicant / developer secures the necessary biodiversity units, and the off-site provider supplies a 
proof of purchase / allocation certificate.  
 
A Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) and Biodiversity Gain Plan are developed for all on-site and off-site gains using the 
national templates. Any agreements or arrangements with third parties relied upon for management, maintenance or monitoring should be 
established. Once prepared, the applicant / developer submits these documents alongside any other necessary information to Enfield Local 
Planning Authority seeking discharge of necessary conditions and/or planning obligations.  
 
Biodiversity Gain Plan 
 
Before the development can begin, a Biodiversity Gain Plan shall be submitted by the developer to discharge the national deemed condition 
relating to the submission and approval of the Biodiversity Gain Plan. The purpose of the Biodiversity Gain Plan is to provide a clear and 
consistent document with which a developer sets out how the proposals meet the biodiversity net gain objective outlined in the Biodiversity 
Gain Statement. The Biodiversity Gain Plan contains the relevant information for Enfield Local Planning Authority to determine whether the 
Biodiversity Net Gain objective has been met and shall satisfy the following: 

• Pre-development biodiversity value of on-site habitat is correct.  
• Post-development biodiversity value of on-site habitat is what the Biodiversity Gain Plan says or more.  
• Any reliance upon off-site gain is allocated to the development and has the value in as specified in the Biodiversity Gain Plan.  
• Any reliance upon statutory credits have been purchased.  
• The development will deliver at least 10% Biodiversity Net Gain  
• Any other matters to be specified in Regulations. 

 
The Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management (CIEEM) has published Biodiversity Net Gain Report and Audit Templates 
which are intended to provide a framework for writing reports for projects that are aiming to achieve biodiversity net gain in the interim period 
ahead of the mandatory requirement.  
 

P
age 40

https://cieem.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/CIEEM-BNG-Report-and-Audit-templates2.pdf


  
 

Page 31 of 40 
 
 

For all Outline planning applications, the information should follow the recommendations of the CIEEM Biodiversity Net Gain Feasibility Report 
Template 
 
For full or reserved matters planning applications, the information should follow the recommendations of the CIEEM Biodiversity Net Gain 
Design Stage Report Template 
 
Commencement and Monitoring Stage 
 
Management and Monitoring Requirements 
 
In securing Biodiversity Net Gain, the biodiversity value will be maintained for a minimum of 30 years and secured at the planning permission 
stage. During construction and for a 30-year period following this, monitoring will be implemented to ensure that all on and/or off-site 
Biodiversity Net Gain is delivered to the required condition. Reporting of findings to Enfield Local Planning Authority will be required.  
 
Management and Monitoring Plans will need to be submitted as part of a detailed Biodiversity Net Gain Plan. Understanding an accurate date 
of commencement is important to monitoring compliance with any Biodiversity Gain Plan associated legal obligations and planning conditions.  
 
Monitoring and reporting are the responsibility of the developer and should be set out in the Biodiversity Gain Plan. The monitoring reports 
should include a summary of habitat type, extent, and condition (with a comparison where applicable against the expected condition proposed 
in the biodiversity gain plan). It is expected as a minimum, that a 5-year aftercare report focusing on the establishment of the habitat in years 1-
5 will be submitted alongside monitoring assessments submitted in years 2, 5, 10, 20 and 30. The monitoring reports should include: 
 

• The baseline biodiversity assessment against which an uplift in biodiversity value will be monitored. 
• The project’s biodiversity targets. 
• A detailed adaptive management plan setting out how habitats will be created or enhanced and describing the proposed ongoing 

management for a minimum of 30 years. 
• The details of when target condition will be achieved and how they will be maintained. 
• A detailed monitoring plan that will be used to inform ongoing management and assess the progress towards achieving target condition. 

This should outline the surveys that will be used to inform condition monitoring reports. 
• Monitoring reports will be provided to Enfield Local Planning Authority in years 1, 2, 3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30. 
• The roles, responsibilities and professional competencies of the people involved in implementing and monitoring the Biodiversity Net 

Gain delivery. 

P
age 41



  
 

Page 32 of 40 
 
 

• Evidence that the necessary resources are available to deliver the proposed biodiversity net gain plan and the ongoing management. 
• GIS files showing the baseline biodiversity values and all proposed target biodiversity values for any created or enhanced habitats both 

on and off site. 
 
A monitoring fee will be set during the negotiation of any relevant planning obligation to cover the Council’s administrative and technical costs 
involved in monitoring the agreement and habitat creation or enhancement.  
 
The same criteria as set out in relation to frequency of reporting and prioritisation of Council resources will be used in establishing the 
appropriate monitoring fee representative of the amount of officer time likely necessary in monitoring the Biodiversity Net Gain proposals:  

• the size of the Biodiversity Net Gain habitat being enhanced or created,  
• the distinctiveness of the habitat,  
• the condition that the Biodiversity Net Gain is targeted to achieve,  
• the strategic significance of the enhanced the created habitat, and  
• consideration of the difficulty, temporal and spatial risks.  

 
Enforcement  

 
Monitoring is not just about quality control but also identifies the need for early intervention and enforcement. Through the above monitoring 
approach, Enfield Local Planning Authority expects the landowner / developer / off-site provider to be able to identify potential concerns and 
necessary mitigations at an early stage so as to avoid breaches and the need to engage enforcement.  

 
Depending on the circumstances, if necessary and appropriate, Enfield Local Planning Authority may use enforcement powers as per its 
adopted Planning Enforcement Plan.   

P
age 42



  
 

Page 33 of 40 
 
 

SECTION FIVE 
 
Validation Requirements  
 
The national section below sets out the interpretation of national requirements that are required for your application to be validated; these are 
defined by the Environment Act 2021 and any subsequent secondary legislation.  
 
The local section below sets out the local requirements of Enfield Local Planning Authority that may be necessary for the successful 
processing of your application, depending upon its precise nature, constraints or scale. The matters set out in this section are not needed for 
your application to be validated but may be required to demonstrate that relevant planning policies/legislation have been satisfied by your 
proposals - failing to submit them at the outset, with your application, could jeopardise validation or what could otherwise be a favourable 
decision on your application.  
 
National Requirements   
 
When you apply for permission, the submitted Biodiversity Gain Statement must: 
 

• Confirm whether the development is exempt from Biodiversity Net Gain / statement as to whether applicant believes development 
subject to General biodiversity gain condition (GBGC)  

• Demonstrate the pre-development biodiversity value of on-site habitat on date of application (or earlier), including completed metric tool 
showing publication date and version of metric 

• Where earlier date, reasons for proposing; 
• Statement confirming whether biodiversity value of on-site habitats is lower on date of application because of degradation – if so, value 

should be taken as immediately before degrading activities 
• Description of any irreplaceable habitat (IH) 
• Plan (to identified scale, must show North) showing on-site habitat on date of application, including IH. 

 
Local Requirements   
 
The local validation requirements below set out how applicants should demonstrate compliance with the above national requirements and other 
local requirements as set out within Enfield Council’s draft Biodiversity Net Gain Guidance Note.  
 

P
age 43



  
 

Page 34 of 40 
 
 

The contents of the Biodiversity Gain Statement will vary dependent on the type of application; however, the following provides a broad outline:  
• How adverse impacts on habitats have been minimised 
• The pre-development biodiversity value of the on-site habitat 
• The post-development biodiversity value of the on-site habitat 
• The biodiversity value of any off-site habitat provided in relation to the development 
• Any statutory biodiversity credits purchased 
• Any further requirements as set out in secondary legislation. 

 
An indicative but not comprehensive guide for inclusion within the Biodiversity Net Gain Statement shall include the following: 
 
Item  Commentary  

 
Wildlife / Ecology Survey  All ecological reports should follow CIEEM guidance on the lifespan of ecological reports and surveys  

Arboriculture Report  Necessary to help inform accurate baseline, proposals and management plans.  
 

Biodiversity Net Gain 
Statement  

• Including all statutory information relevant to the application type as set out in the section above.  
• Including information responding to requirements set out in the Enfield Council Biodiversity Net Gain Guidance 

Note setting out how the applicant:  
o has followed the Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy 
o justifies any use of off-site gain 
o justifies any reliance upon statutory biodiversity credits  
o has followed the Enfield Biodiversity Net Gain Principles  
o has applied the strategic significance criteria 
o proposes to secure biodiversity gains and their management, maintenance and monitoring for the 30-

year period.  
 

P
age 44

https://cieem.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Advice-Note.pdf


  
 

Page 35 of 40 
 
 

Completed Biodiversity 
Metric  

• Must be the latest published national Metric appropriate for the size and type of development.  
• Must be submitted as a Microsoft Excel Workbook (versions with both macros enabled and disabled must be 

provided) and also as a PDF (note both must be provided).  
• Any red flag errors will result in the Metric being returned and the application not being validated. 

Biodiversity Net Gain 
plans and drawings  

• On-site baseline habitat plan  
• On-site post-intervention proposed habitat plan  
• Off-site baseline habitat plan  
• Off-site post-intervention proposed habitat plan  
• Plans should be to scale and in line with other validation checklist conventions for site plans.  
• Plans should identify all different habitats referred to within the Metric submission so the size and location of 

habitat parcels can be fully understood spatially as well as through the Metric.  
 

GIS data  GIS data files providing the same information as provided on the BNG plans and drawings above.  
Declaration Form  A signed declaration form confirming that:  

• the Biodiversity Net Gain Statement includes all of the information required for validation for the type of 
application being made 

• the applicant has checked whether the baseline habitat has deteriorated significantly since 30 January 2020, 
and how the baseline date has been appropriately adjusted to reflect (such as to disregard) any deterioration  

• the Metric and other Biodiversity Gain Information have been completed by a suitably competent person 
(defined locally as being someone holding a Field Identification Skills Certificate (FISC) of Level 3 or above or 
holds a CIEEM accreditation) 

• Where necessary, the watercourse part of the Metric and other associated Biodiversity Gain Information have 
been completed by a suitably competent person (to be defined in secondary legislation but in the case of the 
Watercourse Metric requires specialist training to undertake).  

 
 
It would be advisable that information about any potential planning obligations, including draft heads of terms, be provided as early in the 
process as possible.  

P
age 45



  
 

Page 36 of 40 
 
 

In addition to these minimum requirements, further information can be provided in order to assist the consideration of Biodiversity Net Gain 
as part of the application. Specific further requirements within Biodiversity Net Gain Statement should respond to the following: 

 
Core Information  

• Map(s) of the site, and maps showing any Biodiversity Net Gain which is to be provided offsite. 
• Excel and .pdf copy of the completed relevant Metric or other measurement of Biodiversity Net Gain? 
• Habitat/ecology survey 
• Has it been clearly set out how harm has been avoided following the mitigation hierarchy? 
• Is there a pre-development biodiversity value score? 
• Is there a post-development biodiversity value score given? 
• If off-site Biodiversity Net Gain is going to be provided, is the nature of this, including its value given? 
•  

Supplementary information regarding measuring Biodiversity Net Gain 
• Has a measurement of Biodiversity Net Gain been provided? 
• If the Biodiversity Metrics have been used, is it the correct type and version? 
• Is a percentage Biodiversity Net Gain proposed? 
• Are all habitats in the red line boundary accounted for? 
• Have the reasons for the condition scores been set out, in accordance with the DEFRA guidance? 
• Are there high distinctiveness habitats proposed for creation/enhancement? If so, is there sufficient evidence to support this? 
• Is a high level or more than one-step change in condition proposed? If so, is there sufficient evidence to support this? 
• Is the strategic significance consistent with the relevant strategy/guidance document? 
• Has trading downs been avoided? 

 
In respect of the Habitat Survey / Ecology Assessment 

• Is the appropriate type of survey/assessment submitted for the right type of Metric? 
• Has the assessment been completed by an appropriately qualified ecologist (Biodiversity Metric) or ‘competent person’ (Small Sites 

Metric) 
 
In respect of Mapping 

• Is a baseline habitat map, showing the parcels of land corresponding to the Metric, provided? 
• Is a proposed Biodiversity Net Gain habitat map, showing the parcels of land corresponding to the Metric, provided? 

P
age 46



  
 

Page 37 of 40 
 
 

 
In respect of Management 

• Has information been provided to clearly show how the proposed Biodiversity Net Gain habitats will be implemented, managed, and 
monitored for a minimum of 30-years? 

 
Please note that there is a growing amount of published government information and guidance about biodiversity net gain, but the key ‘planning 
practice guidance’ that dictates how application submissions will be affected is still in draft while corresponding legislation is finalised.  
 
The date for this has been communicated as ‘January 2024’ but will be confirmed once the relevant legislation is ‘made’ (i.e. completes its 
parliamentary approval process).  
 
The list shall be further reviewed as and when Government publishes further guidance and legislation. 
 
The Planning Portal Blog also provide regular updates more details and timings are finalised.  
 

 
  

P
age 47

https://blog.planningportal.co.uk/2023/12/19/biodiversity-net-gain-details-required-from-january-2024/


  
 

Page 38 of 40 
 
 

GLOSSARY 
 
Avoidance  
Measures taken to avoid creating impacts from the start. For example, changing the location of the development or development activities 
within the site to avoid the habitats present.  
 
Biodiversity Gain Statement 
To be submitted as part of a planning application setting out the core information as to how a scheme will deliver Biodiversity Net Gains 
 
Biodiversity Gain Plan 
To be conditioned as part of a planning application, setting out the full strategy for achieving Biodiversity Net Gain, including information not 
captured in the biodiversity metric such as species factors, habitat management plans and how the net gains will be managed and maintained. 
 
Biodiversity Metric  
A tool developed by Natural England/DEFRA (Biodiversity Metric) to be used for measuring biodiversity on development sites or changes in 
land use, which fall within the major planning application threshold. 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain  
Biodiversity Net Gain is development that leaves biodiversity in a measurably better state than before.  
 
Biodiversity Unit  
The value given to a habitat by the Metric based on factors such as area, distinctiveness, condition and strategic location. 
 
Condition  
A measure of the habitat against its ecological optimum state. Condition is a way of measuring variation in the quality of patches of the same 
habitat type. 
 
Condition assessment  
The process of assigning habitat condition, to be undertaken by a competent person. 
 
 
 

P
age 48

https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6049804846366720


  
 

Page 39 of 40 
 
 

Compensation  
Measures taken to provide a biodiversity contribution that is proportionate to the long-term loss of residual impacts that cannot be completely 
avoided or minimised.  
 
Conservation covenants  
An agreement between a landowner and a designated “responsible body” such as a conservation charity, public body or for-profit body which 
conserves (protects, restores or enhances) the natural or heritage features of the land. It is a private, voluntary agreement made for the public 
good, which can continue to be effective even after the land changes hands.  
 
Habitat creation  
The removal or the loss of the present habitat in the action of creating the new one or creating habitat where none was previously present 
(including bare ground). This includes, for example, removing scrub in order to create a wetland habitat or removing hardstanding to create new 
grassland habitat.  
 
Habitat enhancement  
The improvement of the condition of an existing habitat, thereby increasing the biodiversity value of a habitat type. Enhancement is achieved 
through measures that improve habitat biodiversity capacity and/or remove factors that detract from its value. This includes increasing the 
diversity of species that can be supported by a habitat, for example by managing improved grassland so that it becomes semi-improved 
grassland, which would seek to increase species diversity.  
 
Habitat type  
The technical annex lists biodiversity metric habitat types and their source material. Source material includes:  

• UK Habitat Classification  
• Natura 2000 (Annex I habitats)  
• European Nature Information System habitat type hierarchical view  
• Water Framework Directive Lake typologies 

 
Habitat management and monitoring plan (HMMP) 
A detailed plan that outlines how the land will be managed over at least 30 years to create and enhance habitats for Biodiversity Net Gain and 
manage and monitor the Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 
 

P
age 49



  
 

Page 40 of 40 
 
 

Linear habitat 
Habitats recorded in the biodiversity metric according to length (kilometres) instead of area (hectares). This includes habitats in the hedgerow 
and watercourse modules. It’s taken as a centre line measurement along the length of the feature. 
 
Metric  
This is used to quantify impacts on biodiversity (unit value) and calculate compensation and net gain requirements. The most recent Natural 
England national biodiversity metric. 
 
Mitigation Hierarchy  
This is a stepwise approach first seeking to avoid impacts, then to minimise them, then take on-site measures to rehabilitate or restore 
biodiversity, before finally offsetting residual, unavoidable impacts. 
 
Project timeframe 
The timeframe over which the biodiversity metric calculates gains and losses for specific habitat interventions. 
 
Small Sites Metric  
The Small Sites Metric is a simplified version of the Biodiversity Metric and has specifically been designed for use on small development sites. 
The Small Sites Metric is expected to become mandatory from April 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 50



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
London Borough of Enfield 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Report Title Journeys and Places Environment & Climate Action 
Scrutiny Panel Report  

Report to Environment & Climate Action Scrutiny Panel 

Date of Meeting 12 March 2024 

Cabinet Member Cllr Rick Jewell 

Director Brett Leahy 

Report Author Liz Rhodes liz.rhodes@enfield.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected All 

Key Decision 
Number 

Non Key 

Classification Part 1 Public  

Reason for 
exemption 

N/A 

 
 

 
Purpose of Report  
 
1. This report responds to a request from the Environment & Climate Action 

Scrutiny Panel to provide information on consultations that have taken place 
for Quieter Neighbourhoods and walking & cycling infrastructure. The report 
captures activity from January 2023 to February 20204. 

 
 
Engagement & Consultations undertaken 
 
2. Early community engagement 

 
2.1.1. We engaged the Enfield community on a number of walking and 

cycling route projects that were at an early stage of the project. The 
purpose of the engagement at this stage was to hear from residents, 
businesses and other local community members about their ideas for the 

Page 51 Agenda Item 5



 

 

proposed routes, and any issues in the area related to walking and 
cycling that could be addressed by the project. 
 

2.1.2. Early engagement was conducted for the following projects:  

 Enfield Town to Ponders End Station Walking and Cycling Route  

 New River (Tenniswood Road) to Brick Lane Walking and Cycling 
Route 

 Maidstone Road Public Space Improvements  

 Brownlow Road Walking and Cycling Route 

 Great Cambridge Junction to Bridport Road Walking and Cycling 
Route  

 New Southgate Station to Palmers Green Station Walking and Cycling 
Route  

 Southgate Circus to Great Cambridge Junction Walking and Cycling 
Route  

 Old Park Road N13 to Pymmes Park Walking and Cycling Route  

 Bowes East Quieter Neighbourhood 

 Edmonton Green Quieter Neighbourhood 

 
 

2.1.3. For a number of projects listed above, two phases of early 
engagement with the community were held. 

2.1.4. New River to Brick Lane Walking and Cycling Route 
2.1.4.1. Phase 1 was held in January and February 2023 and heard 

from the community about their ideas, issues and comments to 
inform the concept design. 

2.1.4.2. Phase 2 was held in January and February 2024 and 
focused on the second phase of the project. We heard from the 
community about specific elements of the project to inform the 
detailed design This engagement period ran alongside the 
statutory consultation period for Phase 1 of the project. 

2.1.5. Bowes East and Edmonton Green Quieter Neighbourhoods  
2.1.5.1. The first phase was held in September and October 2023 

and presented the concept of Quieter Neighbourhoods in these 
areas to hear about people’s ideas for their local area that could 
be implemented through a Quieter Neighbourhood, and issues 
that could be addressed through the project. These ideas and 
issue informed the concept design for each area that was 
presented during the second phase of community engagement. 

2.1.5.2. The second phase was held in January and February 2024 
and presented the concept design and invited people to 
comment on these via a survey. We are currently in the process 
of summarising the findings in reports for each project that will be 
published once analysis is complete. 

2.1.5.3. In both phase 1 and 2 of engagement, community drop-in 
sessions were held where community members could come and 
speak with the project team, read information boards and view 
maps and proposals. Webinars were also held on Microsoft 
Teams where the project team presented information on the 
project and responded to questions. The project pages on the 
Let’s Talk Enfield website continue to host information on the 

Page 52



 

 

projects including project updates (Bowes East QN project page 
is here and Edmonton Green QN project page is here). 

 
 

2.1.6. Engagement summary reports were produced for each project and 
can be viewed on the project pages linked above. 
 

2.1.7. Engagement was also conducted ahead of the planning application 
submission for the Enfield Town to Broxbourne Walking and Cycling 
Route (Tenniswood Road to Carterhatch Lane section). A community 
drop-in session was held where residents could speak with the project 
team, via the plans and ask questions. 

 
2.1.8. We formed the Journeys and Places Disability Reference Group 

(DRG), a group of Deaf and Disabled people who live, work or study in 
Enfield. The DRG will provide input to projects at early stages based on 
their experience as a Deaf or Disabled person which will inform future 
designs for projects.  

 
 

2.2. Statutory consultation 
2.2.1. A number of projects were subject to statutory consultation on draft 

Traffic Orders. Residents were invited to take part in the statutory 
consultations for the following projects by providing an objection or 
representation on the draft Traffic Order: 

 School Streets including Prince of Wales Primary, Delta Primary, 
Latymer All Saints Primary, Chesterfield Primary and Bowes Primary 
Schools 

 Maidstone Road Public Space Improvements  

 The Walk (Fox Lane Area Quieter Neighbourhood) 

 Bike hangars at seven locations 

 Enfield Town to Broxbourne Walking and Cycling Route (crossing 
points at Carterhatch Lane, Goat Lane, Turkey Street and Bullsmoor 
Lane) 

 Brownlow Road Walking and Cycling Route 

 Enfield Town Liveable Neighbourhoods Phase 1 
 

2.2.2. Where objections and representations made, the Council produces 
a published response to these. These responses have been linked from 
the project pages under the ‘Project updates’ tab. 

 
 
Relevance to Council Plans and Strategies 
 
3. The Journeys & Places programme supports the range of Council priorities: 

 Clean and green spaces – projects typically include the delivery of 
improved public realm, including additional greenery and longer-term 
contribute towards greater levels of sustainable transport.  

 

Page 53

https://letstalk.enfield.gov.uk/boweseastqn
https://letstalk.enfield.gov.uk/edmontongreenqn


 

 

 Safe, healthy and confident communities – projects typically help 
contribute towards creating a safer environment and through 
increasing transport choices helping enable healthier lifestyles.  

 

 Thriving children and young people – projects typically help 
improve the borough for future generations and individual project 
consultations will actively seek the input of young people to help 
shape their design.  

 

 More and better homes – projects typically help create improved 
connections with current and future active travel routes, enabling more 
transport choices for local neighbourhoods to travel in sustainable 
ways.  

 

 An economy that works for everyone – projects typically contribute 
towards developing town centres and public places that are vibrant, 
healthy and inclusive.   

 
 
Financial Implications 
 
4. There are no financial implications as a result of this report which provides an 

overview of previous activity which took place in 2023 and 2024.  
 
Legal Implications  
 
5.  There are no legal implications as a result of this report which provides an 

overview of previous activity which took place in 2023 and 2024.  
 
Equalities Implications  
 
6.  Local authorities have a responsibility to meet the Public Sector Duty of the 

Equality Act 2010. The Act gives people the right not to be treated less 
favourably because of any of the protected characteristics. The Council needs 
to consider the needs of these diverse groups when designing and changing 
services or budgets so that our decisions do not unduly or disproportionately 
affect access by some groups more than others. The Public Sector Duty Act 
2010 requires Local Authorities, in the performance of their functions, to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and other 
prohibited conduct 

 Advance equality of opportunity 

 Foster good relations 
 
7. There are no equalities implications as a result of this report which provides 

an overview of previous activity which took place in 2023 and 2024. Links to 
relevant Equality Impact Assessments (EQIAs) can be found on the 
appropriate project pages linked above.  

 
 
 

Page 54



 

 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Implications 
 
8. There are no specific environmental and climate change implications as a 

result of this report which provides an overview of previous activity which took 
place in 2023 and 2024. 

 
Public Health Implications  
 
9.  Transport is one of the fundamental determinants of health; it may be health-

damaging or health-promoting. The proposals as outlined here will support 
measures to encourage active, rather than motorised, travel. This scheme 
aligns with the Enfield Transport Plan 2019-2041 and the Enfield Healthy 
Streets Framework. 
 

10. Reducing obesity is a priority for Enfield, as outlined in the Borough’s Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy. 61.4% of adults are classified as overweight or 
obese (ALS,12016). Data for academic years 2014/15 to 2016/17 shows that 
the average prevalence of excess weight in year 6 pupils is 41.5%. This is 
higher than London (37.9%) and England (33.87%) averages. If left 
unchanged, this will lead to serious health complications later in life, such as 
diabetes, heart disease and cancers. 
 

11. Creating an environment where people actively choose to walk and cycle as 
part of everyday life can have a significant impact on public health and has 
the potential to reduce health inequalities. It is an essential component of a 
strategic approach to increasing physical activity and may be more cost-
effective than other initiatives that promote exercise, sport, and active leisure 
pursuits. 
 

12. Shifting trips to active and sustainable transport also has the potential to 
achieve related policy objectives: 

 Supports local businesses and promotes vibrant town centres 

 Provides a high quality, appealing public realm 

 Reduces road danger and noise 

 Increases the number of people of all ages out on the streets, making 
public spaces seem more welcoming and providing opportunities for 
social interaction and children’s play 

 Provides an opportunity for everyone, including people with 
impairments, to exercise and enjoy the outdoor environment 

 
13. Journey and Places projects encourage sustainable and active travel, helping 

the Council to manage environmental problems related to congestion and 
local air quality, while also reducing our impact on climate change and 
improve health, safety, and accessibility for all in our communities. This 
supports Public Health’s efforts to embed health in all policies across the 
Council. 
 

 
 
 

Page 55



 

 

 
 
 

Report Author: Liz Rhodes 
 Journeys and Places Communications and Engagement Lead 
 Liz.rhodes@enfield.gov.uk 
 020 8132 0981 
 
Appendices 
 
None 
 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
 
None 
 
 
 
Departmental reference number, if relevant: 
 
 

Page 56



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
London Borough of Enfield 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Report Title ULEZ Implementation  

Report to Environment & Climate Action Scrutiny Panel 

Date of Meeting 12 March 2024 

Cabinet Member Councillor Jewell 

Executive Director 
/ Director 

Brett Leahy 

Report Author Ned Johnson, ned.johnson@enfield.gov.uk 

Classification Part 1 Public  

 
 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 To report on the impact of the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) following 

expansion to cover the whole of Greater London on 29th August 2023. 
 
 
2. Main Considerations for the Panel 
 
2.1 The ULEZ has set emission limits for all vehicles entering and driving in 

Greater London; any vehicle which does not comply with the ULEZ 
emissions limits must pay a daily charge of £12.50 to drive in London. 
Following implementation there should be a change in the emissions 
concentrations within the borough, this is most likely to be noticeable 
along the busiest roads, such as the A10 and A406. Data comparison is 
provided in the report for air pollution measurements before ULEZ 
expansion and after.  

 
 

Page 57 Agenda Item 6



 

 

3. Background and Options 
 
3.1 The Environment Act 1995 introduced the system of local air quality 

management (LAQM) and consequently all local authorities in the 
United Kingdom have a legal responsibility to review and assess 
the air quality within their areas for seven key pollutants: 

 

 Nitrogen dioxide 

 Particulates (PM10) 

 Sulphur dioxide 

 Carbon Monoxide 

 Lead 

 Benzene 

 1,3-butadiene 
 
 
3.2  The Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 set out objectives 

levels for each of the abovementioned pollutants and a target date 
by which the objectives have to be met. The objective levels are 
set, using expert medical advice, at a level at which even the most 
sensitive individuals would not feel any adverse health effects. 

 
 
3.3 Should a local authority decide that they are unlikely to meet any of the 

objectives set out in Regulations they must declare an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA). 

 
3.4 Across the whole of London boroughs have declared AQMAs for nitrogen 

dioxide and PM10 mainly due to road traffic emissions. The whole of the 
London Borough of Enfield is an AQMA for nitrogen dioxide and PM10. 

 
3.5 The Mayor of London is responsible for air quality in the capital and is 

required to include in his Air Quality Strategy policies and proposals for 
the achievement of national air quality standards and objectives 
prescribed in regulations. 

 
3.6 As part of the approach to reduce concentrations of nitrogen dioxide and 

PM10 the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) was introduced. The first stage 
of the implementation was Central London, followed by a larger area 
stretching to the North Circular Road in North London. The latest 
implementation covers the whole of Greater London and was expanded 
on August 29th 2023.  

 
3.7 The ULEZ covers all vehicles and sets limits for emissions from petrol and 

diesel vehicles. By settling emissions limits the number of highly polluting 
vehicles will be reduced; vehicles which do not meet the ULEZ emissions 
criteria can pay a daily charge of £12.50 to enter the zone. 

 
 
 
 

Page 58



 

 

 Enfield Council’s Monitoring Stations 
 
3.8 The Council has four real-time air quality monitoring sites, all of which 

measure nitrogen dioxide and one of the sites also monitors PM10. 
 
3.9 The location of the monitoring stations can be seen in Figure 1 below. 
 
 
Figure 1. 
 

 
 
3.10 The monitoring sites shown on the Figure above are a mixture of roadside 

and background sites. ENF5 is located at Bowes Primary approximately 3 
metres from the edge of the carriageway of the A406. ENF4 is on Derby 
Road, N18, within 100 metres of the A406 and next to Conduit Lane. Both 
ENF1 and ENF7 are background sites away from busy roads. 

 
3.11 Pollution concentrations are affected by several factors including the 

number of vehicles travelling along a road, the types of vehicles and the 
level of emissions from each vehicle. Weather is an important factor in 
concentrations in air.  

 
3.12 Wet weather reduces particulates in air, effectively washing them out, 

while dry still conditions, lead to higher particle concentrations as they are 
not blown or washed away and the particulates on the road are continually 
resuspended. Nitrogen dioxide is not emitted directly from vehicle 
exhausts (except in the case of buses). Nitrogen oxides are emitted from 
exhausts and in the presence of sunlight and ozone are converted into 
nitrogen dioxide. The level of sunlight affects this reaction. 

 

Page 59



 

 

3.13 Due to the various factors affecting pollutant concentrations it is necessary 
to look at long-term trends to determine whether concentrations are 
reducing. Unless there have been specific incidents month by month data 
may not be representative of a change in concentrations. The Journeys & 
Places programme are proposing some additional longer-term monitoring 
as part of their programme strategic monitoring to develop the longer-term 
assessment of walking and cycling and Quieter Neighbourhood projects. 
More detail on this is at Appendix A. 
 
 
 Monitoring data 

 
3.14 The following data has been taken from the Council’s air quality 

monitoring stations. Data has been supplied for the period January – 
August 2023 and following implementation of the ULEZ, September – 
December 2023. 

 
Table 1. Pollution data 1st January 2023 – 28th August 2023 

Site Code Site Name NO2 ug/m3 PM10 ug/m3 

ENF1 John Jackson 
Library 

15.4 N/A 

ENF4 Derby Road 24.4 N/A 

ENF5 Bowes Primary 23.6 12.9 

ENF7 Prince of Wales 
School 

14.9 N/A 

 
 Table 2. Pollution data 29th August – 31st January 2024. 

Site Code Site Name NO2 ug/m3 PM10 ug/m3 

ENF1 John Jackson 
Library 

18.3 N/A 

ENF4 Derby Road 28.2 N/A 

ENF5 Bowes Primary 25.8 9.7 

ENF7 Prince of Wales 
School 

16.5 N/A 

 
3.15 The data for all sites in Table 1 (pre-ULEZ expansion) has slightly lower 

concentrations for nitrogen dioxide than in Table 2 (post-ULEZ expansion) 
and a slightly higher concentration for PM10. There may be several 
explanations for the slight differences in the concentrations seen between 
tables 1 and 2.  

 
3.16 As mentioned earlier in paragraph 3.13, comparisons of concentrations 

must to be over a longer period of time due to short-term variations of 
measured levels over a few months. Currently there is not enough 
measured data to provide any meaningful analysis of the impact of the 
ULEZ on the Borough’s air pollution concentrations. 

 
3.17 The Mayor of London issued a report at the end of October entitled                                      
 ‘London-wide Ultra Low Emission Zone First Month Report’. The 

document provides data for the change to the vehicle fleet in the ULEZ, 
comparing June 2023 with September 2023. 

Page 60



 

 

 
3.18 The report for the first month of the ULEZ does not cover the impacts of 

the scheme on air pollutant concentrations, stating that ‘a longer period is 
needed to accurately measure this.’ 

 
3.19 The key findings put forward in the Mayor’s report are as follows: 
 

 The compliance rate for vehicles subject to the ULEZ standards during 
the first month was 95.3%, up from 91.6% in June 2023 

 

 Compliance rates for cars and vans have increased; 96.4% of cars and 
86.2% of vans seen driving in the London-wide ULEZ met the 
standards in the first month, up from 93% and 80.2% in June 2023 

 

 In the expanded outer London area, vehicle compliance was 95.2% in 
the first month compared with 90.9% in June 2023 

 

 Car compliance in the expanded outer London area is 96.4%, up from 
92.4% in June 2023 

 
3.20 Positive changes to the vehicle fleet are likely to give rise to reductions in 

emissions and pollutant concentrations, the extent of this is currently 
unknown and will be clearer when the Mayor of London issues future 
reports that discuss this issue. 

 

4. Relevance to Council Plans and Strategies 
 
4.1 The ULEZ is likely to lead to reduced emissions of nitrogen dioxide and 

PM10 from road traffic, this is relevant to the Council’s Air Quality Action 
Plan, which sets-out how the Council will work towards improving air 
quality in the borough. 

 
 

Report Author: Ned Johnson 
 Principal Officer Pollution Control 
 ned.johnson@enfield.gov.uk 
 020 8132 0897 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1: Journeys & Places Monitoring of Transport Air Pollution 
 
Background Papers 
 
London-wide Ultra Low Emissions Zone First Month Report 
London-wide Ultra Low Emission Zone First Month Report | London City Hall  
 
Departmental reference number, if relevant: 
  

Page 61

https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/environment-and-climate-change/environment-and-climate-change-publications/london-wide-ultra-low-emission-zone-first-month-report


 

 

Appendix 1:  Journeys & Places Monitoring of Transport Air Pollution  
 
Introduction 
The Journeys and Places team has obtained grant funding from TfL to implement 
and monitor transport related air quality on both a strategic basis and, where 
necessary, on a project related basis as well. 
 
The monitoring will be undertaken by Smart Hub using Vortex sensors.  The 
cameras monitor air quality 24/7 and provide an excellent data insight that assist 
with decision making. 
 
Strategic Monitoring 
The strategic monitoring is a set of 7 permanent locations across the Borough.  
The sensors are location next to traffic monitoring sensors to enable data 
correlations between traffic and air quality.  The locations are shown in the map 
below.  Should additional funding become available then the intention is to 
expand the network. 
 

 
 
 
 
Project Monitoring 
Where schemes are intended to reduce traffic and/or traffic related air pollution, 

temporary sensors can be used to establish a baseline prior to scheme 

implementation and post-implementation monitoring to assess the impact of 

schemes.  Some projects have also used AQ modelling using traffic data to make 

assessments on any AQ impacts of the projects.  

 

Page 62



 

 

The results of the monitoring can be useful when responding to complaints or 

queries from the public and stakeholders by providing real data as evidence of 

the current AQ position. The increased provision of AQ monitoring locations, 

related to the Journeys & Places programme, will help provide further insights 

that can be shared with the community.  

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



ENVIRONMENT & CLIMATE ACTION SCRUTINY PANEL WORK PROGRAMME  
 

Date of 
meeting 

 

Topic Report 
Author 

Lead 
Members 

Executive 
Director/ 
Director  

Reason for proposal Other 
committee/ 
Cabinet/Council 
approvals? 

3 July 
2023 

Work Programme Planning      

       

24 Oct 
2023 

Recycling – to include: how 
information about what can be 
recycled is communicated to 
residents - the use of images/ 
stickers/ videos, the 
harmonisation/ standardisation of 
recycling, trial on recycling in 
council flats/ estates – the next 
step, recycling processes 
relative/ comparison to other 
local authorities – particularly 
those hitting the 50% London 
target, a second recycling centre 
being built/ opened at the North 
London Waste Authority  

Jon Sharkey Cllr Jewell  Doug 
Wilkinson/ 
Simon 
Pollock 

Suggested by the 
Executive Director, and 
something the Panel 
decided to discuss/ 
review/ scrutinise further. 

 

 Mandatory food waste 
segregation for businesses, to 
include: how the council can 
make changes to boost our 
recycling levels through business 
waste, how many food 
businesses there are in Enfield 
and all businesses recycling 

Jon Sharkey Cllr Jewell Doug 
Wilkinson/ 
Simon 
Pollock 

Suggested by the 
Executive Director, and 
something the Panel 
decided to discuss/ 
review/ scrutinise further. 

 

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 7



rates of businesses, how their 
waste is collected and who is our 
biggest waste collection 
competition in Enfield? 

 Fly tipping – to include:  
enforcement and cameras, data 
and information on the numbers 
of offences, numbers of 
convictions, and areas of 
development, progress with the 
fly tipping cameras on fly tipping 
rates, how many fines have been 
issued since, areas located in, a 
history of year-on-year fly tipping 
report data, where are you 
getting the most reports 
(phone/online) and location 

Jon Sharkey Cllr Jewell Doug 
Wilkinson/ 
Simon 
Pollock 

Suggested by the 
Executive Director, and 
something the Panel 
decided to discuss/ 
review/ scrutinise further. 

 

       

8 Feb 2024 Rewilding – to include Chase 
Landscape: Tree Planting, 
Wetlands, Beavers, and funding 

Marcus 
Harvey/ Ian 
Russell 

Cllr Anyanwu 
/ Cllr Jewell 

Cheryl 
Headon / 
Simon 
Pollock/ Doug 
Wilkinson 

Suggested by the 
Executive Director, and 
something the Panel 
decided to discuss/ 
review/ scrutinise further. 

 

 Cattle Grazing at Forty Hall  Marcus 
Harvey/ Ian 
Russell  

Cllr Anyanwu  Cheryl 
Headon / 
Simon 
Pollock 

Suggested by the 
Executive Director, and 
something the Panel 
decided to discuss/ 
review/ scrutinise further. 

 

 Parks Management & 
Biodiversity – to include toilets 
(cleanliness & signage) and 
cafes in parks, grass cutting, the 

Marcus 
Harvey 
(Mathew 
Watts)  

Cllr Anyanwu  Cheryl 
Headon / 
Simon 
Pollock  

Suggested by the 
Executive Director, and 
something the Panel 
decided to discuss/ 

 

P
age 66



move to tennis courts using a 
booking system, illegal tenting, 
and fishing at Grovelands Park, 
and parks and grass verges 
management more generally  

review/ scrutinise further. 

       

12 Mar 
2024 

Biodiversity Net Gain  
 

Gideon 
Whittington/ 
Karen Page 

Cllr S Erbil Brett Leahy/ 
Sarah Cary 

Suggested by the 
Executive Director, and 
something the Panel 
decided to discuss/ 
review/ scrutinise further. 

 

 Quieter Neighbourhoods – 
Walking & Cycling Infrastructure 
– to include consultations that 
have taken place  

Richard 
Eason 

Cllr Jewell Brett Leahy / 
Sarah Cary 

Suggested by the 
Executive Director, and 
something the Panel 
decided to discuss/ 
review/ scrutinise further. 

 

 Air Quality/Pollution & ULEZ - 
cycling routes impact on air 
quality 

Ned Johnson/ 
Richard 
Eason 

Cllr Jewell Brett Leahy / 
Sarah Cary 

Suggested by the 
Executive Director, and 
something the Panel 
decided to discuss/ 
review/ scrutinise further. 

 

       

18 April 
2024 

Climate Action Plan 
 

Vera Vajda  Cllr Ergin 
Erbil 

Perry Scott/ 
Brett Leahy 
(Sustainability 
post)   

To present the updated 
document for Scrutiny 

Cabinet sign off 
in February 2024  

 Pilots Retrofitting Council 
Housing for Energy Efficiency  
 

Rafe Bertram Cllr Rick 
Jewell/ Cllr 
George 
Savva 

Sarah Cary/ 
Joanne Drew   

Suggested by the 
Executive Director, and 
something the Panel 
decided to discuss/ 
review/ scrutinise further. 

 

 

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	4 Biodiversity Net Gain
	Biodiversity-net-gain-guidance-note-draft-Planning
	Biodiversity Net Gain
	8th December 2023


	5 Quieter Neighbourhoods - Walking & Cycling Infrastructure
	6 Air Quality/Pollution & ULEZ
	7 WORK PROGRAMME 2023/24

